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         I have always said that if I had a chance to write about gambling stories it would be a very intriguing and exciting book indeed. This book will include some of the experiences I have encountered on my travels. I have read a few books on gambling stories and I felt that I could write a book of my own! I will share these experiences with you but obviously I will change some of the names and some of the places to protect those concerned. Everything you will read in this book is true. If you have read any gambling books in the past you will find this book quite incredible.

         I said to my wife some time ago, I would like to write a book on all these fascinating events that have taken place in my life and it was she who suggested that I should sit down and put pen to paper. What happened was, when we used to entertain at dinner parties, I used to always tell a story that I had experienced in my life about gambling and throughout the evening I used to tell one or two stories that were funny and my wife said to me, “You made everyone laugh tonight, you could write a book.” So it was then that I decided to sit down and start. I said to her, “It would take a very long time indeed to start all my adventures, going back to when I was possibly four to five years old.” She said, “Well you are in no rush!” So, I sat down, probably a couple of years ago now, probably about the year 2000. We then bought a PC and we found some software that you could dictate to as it would be a lot easier because I can’t type. Well in the beginning it was great but then the software packed up halfway through and it started spelling certain things wrong and I decided to call it a day because everything was getting on top of me. Then my wife started typing a bit for me, my sister started typing a bit for me and then my niece started typing a bit for me but eventually everything faded out and we got nothing done.

         It wasn’t until by pure chance one day that I met a very nice chap called Dave English who gave me the number of a lady who would sit down and do the manuscript, and it seems now that we are finally going to get something done, so I am going full steam ahead to write this book.

         I started at 39 years old, I’m already 41 and we still haven’t got the final copy finished. This book will include stories of some of the biggest gambling cash games, even by todays standard. I know that the $10,000 Hold’em Event in Las Vegas is the biggest competition in the world and I know the prize money is probably $2 million now, which is about £1million but in a lot of my stories I am talking about ‘hard cash’ not tournament chips. The size of those games was well ahead of their time. Also there was a poker game that I was involved in, dealing, that was the biggest game to be known, but one slight thing, it was 35,000 ft up in the air, but I will tell you about that later on. Myself, I’ve played poker all around the world. UK, Australia, Hong Kong, Cyprus and many, many other places. Wherever there has been Five Card Stud and me knowing that there is a good straight open game, I want to get involved. I have also dealt in the biggest games in the world, for their time, and even in today’s standard as I said, they would be considered very large indeed.

         My stories will include some of the top Professional Five Stud poker players and then some other stories; will consist of some modest amateur very weak poker players. Both can be quite amusing! I suppose with a book, the only problem is where do you start. My wife said to me, “Well, why don’t you start at the beginning” and I said to her “Where is the beginning?” She said, “The beginning of your gambling stories.”

         So I had to think quite hard and the harder I was thinking the younger I was getting. In my mind I kept thinking of experiences of when I was young and then younger and younger. Well I can tell you I ended up at five years old and that’s when it all started.

         My dad owned a casino in 1965. It was called the Wembley Spinner Club. It was a casino well ahead of its time. Wembley in those days was a very nice area with a large Jewish community. It was quite classy; I would probably say it was on a standard to Stanmore, Radlett or Elstree.

         On the ground floor there were three roulette tables, a dice table and two blackjacks, on the first floor there was a poker room, & we always had buffet nights. Now it was my dad back in the 60s that introduced free drinks, free coffees and free buffets. The spread he used to put on was quite incredible. We still look at some of the Cine films today and are quite impressed. Once a week they used to hold a raffle and the first prize was a brand-new Escort car. Needless to say, on these special nights, the club used to get extremely busy. What with the complimentary drinks, food and a chance to win a car, can you imagine? In those days there were hundreds and hundreds of casinos dotted around the London area. It was quite easy to get a licence. It was not until 1969–70 the Gaming Board restricted the licences.

         When I was five years old, my mum used to take my brother, sister and me into the casino on a Sunday afternoon and I remember until this day sitting on my dad’s knee watching him play poker. I also remember a couple of the players at the time because I played with them 20 to 25 years later. Sonny, French Alan, Italian Gino, to name a few, they all had nicknames. Dad also told me there was a very big Poker Player by the name of Kuros. Now Kuros has died but he owned a couple of restaurants in the West End and Kuros was a fearless poker player. Dad was telling me, he could possibly lose £10-15 grand in one night. Now you are talking about in the mid-60s. In those days a three or four bed-room house was about £6000.

         They all used to play Five Card Stud Strip Deck. Five Card Stud is the mother of all poker games. It was played in the 30s, 40s and 50s back in America, but it soon died a death, because with 52 cards the action used to get a little slow and boring. When the game hit London in the mid-50s, the Cypriots and the Italians discarded the 2s, 3s and 4s and ended up with a 40-card deck. This used to give the game a little more action. It used to be a ‘no limit game’, which can be a very dangerous game indeed like the ‘no limit game’ they play in Las Vegas at the moment with Texas Hold’em. Players out there currently know that in this kind of game, you could put your entire cash at stake at any time. When the 60s came around that structure seemed to die off. What happened to the game next was that they took the 5s and the 6s out and left a 32-card deck & also changed the structure to a Pot Limit Game, so you could only bet the size of the pot, which definitely gave you a lot more action and you were able to ‘buy’ a lot more cards for your money in the course of the game. With this structure you could ‘build’ pots, knowing you could not lose all your money in one pot. Strip Deck, as is now known was born. The Americans have never played Strip Deck Poker; it never took off within the States. If you go to a couple of the card clubs in Los Angeles, you will find it in some of the rooms and they call it ‘Asian Stud’. They still play it over there in the Asian Section, but they still play No Limit. I have played it in America for three or four years and I have made money. However, I feel that you have to play very tight indeed, but I will tell you about those stories later on in the book. There was still a lot of Five Card Stud Strip Deck right up until the mid-90s but the game died and Hold’em took over. Now it seems that Hold’em has died and is being taken over by Omaha Poker. Any Omaha player will tell you, that game has got a lot of action. I will argue with anybody out there that has played in a very good Five Card Stud Strip Deck game that Five Card Stud has just as much action as Omaha.

         Now, I am going to begin with one of my stories. My dad told me this story many years after it actually happened. It’s actually quite an amusing one, so I thought I should definitely share it with you.

         When he had the casino between 1965–70, there used to be a customer who went there every single night of the week at 6 pm. He used to have a confectionary shop, a sweet shop. He would never leave the casino until he had lost every single penny. His sweetshop used to be around the corner and he used to walk into the casino with about £40–£50 every single night. Now you’re talking about the mid-60s, and he would never ever win! One night my dad was at home with us and he rang the casino and spoke to the manager, whose name was Sollie and asked “Any Poker players in yet Sollie?” to which Sollie replied, “Not yet Max, but our first customer in tonight was the ‘sweet-shop man’ and he’s winning a couple of hundred pounds.” Dad said to the manager, “No problem, I’ll call you in an hour and I’ll find out roughly what time the poker will start,” disregarding what Sollie said about the ‘sweet-shop man’. Dad called him back in about an hour’s time and before he asked any questions, Sollie informed Dad that the ‘sweet-shop man’ was now winning about £2000. My dad still replied to Sollie, “No problem Sollie, he’ll be there all night.” Don’t forget in those days it was 24 hours. Dad knew that this guy was an out and out gambler and he would carry on gambling and gambling. Anyway dad told me that he was not too worried about it. He was more concerned about getting the poker started. About midnight that night, the phone rang home. It was Sollie. He said “Max, I think you had better come down.” Dad said, “Why, has the poker begun?” “No Max! The ‘sweet-shop man’, he’s winning about £8000.” Now £8,000 as we said in the 60s, was a lot of money! Dad said, “I’m on my way, I’ll be down in about 15 minutes.” Well the story goes like this. This ‘sweet-shop man’ couldn’t do anything wrong that night. He was playing roulette, he was hitting number after number after number. Anything he backed was coming up. Dad even raised the limit. In those days, you could do whatever you wanted. The maximum you could have on a number at the Wembley Spinner was £5–£10 a number. Dad raised the limit to £25 a number. Dad raised the limit to £50 a number, but sure enough this guy carried on hitting number after number. Dad told me, “They changed the dealer every 20 minutes, but to no avail. At six o’clock in the morning the ‘sweet-shop man’ had accumulated every single ‘cash chip’ in the casino. Notice that I say ‘cash chip’. Cash chips are the chips that you can go and cash in. The normal coloured chips are the chips that you play at the table on the roulette. There is a reason I’m telling you this, it’s because he had accumulated every single ‘cash chip’. He then accumulated every single coloured chip on the three roulettes. At one stage the ‘sweet-shop man’ had gone delirious. He was having £4000 on black and £3000 on red. This we know is stupidity, but I think the guy had gone into oblivion, he started having £100 on a number which was a ludicrous limit in those days, but my dad being the gambler he is, just carried on raising the maximum. By 8.30 am the ‘sweet-shop man’ still couldn’t do nothing wrong. Even Sollie the General Manager started spinning the ball, but it was no use. They estimated with the ‘colour chips’ (they put a different value on those ones) each one was valued from £5 to £100 a chip, plus all the cash chips in the casino, he was estimated at winning over £150,000. I mean, this is an unbelievable and incredible amount to be winning and this kind of money in the 60s could set you up for life. The magnificent ending to this story is this. By 7.30 pm the following evening, the ‘sweet-shop man’ left the casino – he went to his car and he brought out another £5 worth of change. He had lost every single chip back within the 24-hour period. The ‘sweet-shop man’ was never ever seen again at the casino. The casino was still to be open for the next three or four years. He disappeared without trace.

         Dad laughs about the story now and obviously, if the man cashed in, he would have got paid, but it could have been the end of the Wembley Spinner Club, within the first year. You must be asking yourself, “How did he manage to win this kind of money, so effortlessly,” but as I said, with my dad raising the limit and keeping on raising the limit, this was all possible.

         There was another customer that used to go regularly to the Wembley Spinner Club, everybody used to call him ‘Little Norman’. Well he used to go in day in and day out and lose his money and this went on for months and months. After about six or seven months Little Norman used to come in have his drinks and have his food and not play. Dad noticed this but didn’t say anything. After all little Norman was a terrific customer. Well after nine months, Dad still didn’t say anything but there was no action coming from ‘Little Norman’. One night he wanted to meet Dad and he said, “Max, as you’ve seen I haven’t been playing in the last nine months.” Dad said, “I’ve noticed.” He said, “Max, I’ve been coming in for the buffets and all the free food and all the free drink.” Dad again said, “Yes! Norman I have noticed.” He said, “I feel bad Max.” So Dad said, “Look Norman, it’s not a problem, come in and eat and drink whenever you like.” Norman said, “I do feel bad Max because I haven’t been playing, I’m not a good customer anymore, I’ve done all my money and I can’t play anymore.” Dad said, “Norman it’s not a problem come and eat and drink whenever you like you’re my guest.” Norman said, “I’ve got an idea.” Dad said, “What is it?” Norman said, “Can you give me a job?” Dad said, “Are you kidding me?” He said, “No Max! I love the Wembley Spinner so much. I love your food here. I love your drink, I love the company and I love the Casino; I’m here every night, even though I’m not playing. I wanna job?” Within a week Norman was a dealer and a Croupier at the Wembley Spinner Club! One night, Dad told me Little Norman span the wheel and span 26, 26, 0, 0, 3333! Which is unbelievable because if you play roulette, you’ll know they are all next to each other on the wheel!

         One night when there weren’t enough poker players to get a full game going, one of the players that were there challenged my dad to Heads Up Poker. He must have been a brave man, his name was ‘Sonny’. A very experienced poker player at Five Card Stud and he is still on the circuit today. Dad said to him, “Let’s get it on Sonny, if you want to play me Heads Up, I’ll play you.” As they were to begin the game, Dad realised that they were playing with 52 cards, a full deck. Sonny said to my dad, “Max, I’m not playing you Heads Up Strip Deck, because you are unbeatable, I want to play you Full Deck.” To which my dad replied, “No problem Sonny, deal them.” The game lasted three and half hours and my dad lost his money. Apparently, Sonny was a very good Five Card Stud Full Deck player and Dad, not knowing the mechanics of how to play Full Deck, told me that he was outclassed by Sonny. In the years gone he had played a 40-card deck with the 5s and 6s included, but this was a different ball game, Sonny had the beating of Dad. Well Sonny came in the next day and said, “Max you on for a game?” Dad said, “Let’s go Sonny.” The same result, Sonny won money off of my dad. The night after, guess what? Sonny turned up again. “Hey Max,” he said, “Want to play again?” My Dad looked at him and said, “Sonny no more full deck with you, I will play you Strip Deck.” To which Sonny replied, “Come on Max, Strip Deck you’re too good!” Dad turned around and said, “Sonny full deck you’re too good!” I’ve never ever played Five Card Stud with 52 cards, I thought it would be a very slow and boring game, but something was to happen very recently and I will tell you about that towards the end of the book that made me change my mind.

         One night my dad popped into the Spinner early, it was quiet but he noticed that there was one customer standing all by himself at the bottom of the casino on the dice table. He walked over and he noticed it was Stan the minicab driver. They used to call him ‘Stan the man’. Now Stan, was a regular punter at the Wembley Spinner Club, he was also the driver for the club, so any customers that wanted to be driven home he would drive them, get the cab fare and then come back and gamble. Dad noticed on this particular night that Stan wasn’t gambling. Dad walked over to Stan and said, “How are you doing, are you winning or are you losing?” Stan replied, “Max I’ve lost my money tonight, I can’t even have another bet, all I’ve got left is this 2/6 p chip [which is about 12.5 p in today’s currency].” Now the minimum at the Wembley Spinner on the dice on the front line or the pass line was 5 shillings, which is 25 p so Stan is standing there with this 2/6 p chip in his hand and he can’t even have a bet. My Dad said to Stan, “Stan put your 2/6 p chip on the front line and I’ll tell the Croupier to match it, so that you can have a bet.” Stan said, “That’s very kind of you Max, because I’ve been losing my money a long time at the Wembley Spinner Club.” Anyway Stan put his 2/6 p chip on the front line. Dad told the Croupier to put another 2/6 p chip on top and Stan picked up the dice. Stan made a couple of numbers and he had £3–£4 in front of him. Dad walked away and went up to the office to make a few phone calls to see who was coming in to play poker that night. About an hour later the manager Sollie phoned up the office, and said, “Max, Stan the man, has just left, he was telling everybody that you gave him an extra 2/6 p.” Dad said, “That’s right Sollie, not a problem.” He said, “Well Max, that 5 shillings that he put on the front line has just won him £1800”! Dad said to Sollie, “Are you kidding me?” Sollie said, “No Max, he was throwing the dice for over an hour, anything he was betting was winning.” Dad said, “I can’t believe that.” Sollie replied, “It’s true, he has just walked out of the casino, winning £1800.” Well Dad tells me that he didn’t worry about it too much because as I said, Stan was the regular driver, and a regular customer. That night the story went around the casino and Dad was saying to Sollie during the night, “Don’t worry, Stan the man will be back, it’s probably a good thing that he has had a ‘touch’ and won that money.” Well the following night came and yes Stan the man walked in at about 9 pm. He saw my dad and he said, “Max I’ve got to thank you very much.” Dad said, “I know Stan, I heard all about it, we are going to get some action from you tonight.” He looked up at Dad and said, “Max can you follow me outside please”? They walked outside the Wembley Spinner Club and as they got outside the front door Stan said, “I want to thank you Max, because without you I wouldn’t have won that money.” Dad replied, “Well I know that Stan, you are welcome.” Stan said, “No, I also want to thank you Max, because not only did I win that money, I went out this morning and bought this lovely new Jaguar parked over there, so that I can do some executive minicab driving and because of that 2/6 p chip that you gave me, I was able to have that first bet, win that money and buy a lovely new car! I promise you Max, I will be the Wembley Spinner driver until the day it closes… but I don’t know if I’m going to gamble any more!”

         Now, I’m going to tell you a little bit about my father. My father is known in the gambling world as one of the most fearless poker players and also one of the strongest Five Card Stud players on the planet and that’s no joke. In fact, his forte (his strongest point) is Heads Up (match poker). In fact very recently, Dad was playing Hold’em at the Vic, which is a casino in London and he was playing in a ten-handed game, and he was playing so aggressively that one of the Hendon Mob, Barney, emailed me the next day and said. “I tell you what, in a fight, I want your Dad on my side, because he just ‘pounds’ away at the pot!” Now when it’s Heads Up you can afford to play very, very aggressively and believe you me, he will take on anybody head-to-head at Five Card Stud. In fact recently on the internet there was a challenge by four or five current professional poker players, challenging anybody in the world to any poker game of their choice, at any stake. This challenge was out over the internet, because of the Vienna Heads Up World Championship, which was a Heads Up Hold’em. I replied to all five professionals, that my father would play them one by one Heads Up Five Card Stud and a minimum stake of $10,000 and no limit maximum, but the game had to be Strip Deck Five Card Stud pot limit. All five declined the offer. One replied and he said, “He would play, but there was a small snag as he wanted to play also ‘Heads Up Omaha’. The guy’s name was Dave and is also known as ‘The Devil Fish’, a very strong Omaha player. A very, very good gambler doesn’t play Five Card but the way he sees it, he would give it a bash. I’m sure he knows Five Card but his forte is Omaha. Well Dad declined the Omaha and wanted to play Five Card, but Dave declined the Five Card. I replied and said it was them who put the challenge over the internet. Nothing ever evolved and there was never a game. My dad’s reputation is obviously world-renowned.

         You see when he sits at a poker table he could have very, very big ‘swings’. Some nights he could actually skin the table, take everybody’s money one by one and on the nights if his cards are not going well, he could lose money. He could lose big money, but overall in the last 55 years of playing, his winnings at Five Card Stud outweigh big time the losses. His wins some nights are humongous and the losses could be big, but that’s the style of his play. Me on the other hand, a lot of people say that I play a lot more carefully. My wins aren’t as big on my winning nights as my dad, but my losses on the losing nights are usually very small. As a few people have said in the past, the difference between my dad and I at Five Card Stud is that you have more value with my dad, but the result is still the same. Whether it’s father or son we win, you lose!

         In the early 60s, Dad was telling me about when he was playing poker in North London; he had lost a considerable amount of money one night. He found out the next day that the cards had been marked and he was actually cheated out of that money. Now, the money he lost was ‘Markers’. Markers means when you’ve got credit and you have to pay the next day or the day after. My Dad found out that the cards were marked, but just to let you know the gentleman my dad is, he went back the following day and paid them the money he had lost. You might ask why? And I also asked him why? He said, “If you lose money at poker and it’s on credit and you go back the next day and say I’m not paying because I was cheated, it always sounds sour grapes. Be a man, pay your losses, wipe your mouth, you keep your name clean and afterwards you can also say, ‘I didn’t like the game,’ but once you’ve paid, then they might get the message. That’s just a little bit of the character of my dad.

         Time for another small story. This time a short and funny one. My dad had a small club and casino in Haringey, North London, it was called the Empress Club. He received a phone call at home, by the manager; his name was Dinos. They used to call him ‘Mr Beans’, because he was always lively. Someone was playing The Maximum on The First Dozen on the roulette. That means from number 1 to number 12. Then obviously, Dad told the manager to keep him updated on the action, because apparently, this customer was winning quite a lot of money. This guy couldn’t stop winning on betting the first dozen. Dad went down to the Club to see what was going on, because the manager and the dealer mentioned that the first dozen was coming up quite regularly. My dad got down there and after about half an hour decided to stop the game and close the table. The whole roulette table was full of customers. So Dad wasn’t a popular guy when he stopped the game in mid action and said, “This table is now closed.” One of the guys was winning £7–8000. Mid-60s again! The table was closed and Dad paid the guy. After closing time, he then examined the roulette wheel and found many of the numbers had the gaps closed slightly, so the wheel was favouring the first dozen. This, we call in the gambling trade “The wheel was biased.” This was another expensive lesson for my dad, in today’s casinos all roulette wheels are balanced, checked and investigated so the wheel has no bias and they do this on a regular nightly basis.

         There was another customer that used to go every single night to the Empress Club and he used to bet on red and black and for a long time he never lost. I’ll tell you his system. He used to start off having £5 on red or black. If it lost, £10. If it lost, £20. If it lost, £40. If it lost, £80 etc. etc. This we know is a doubling up system. As any of you reading this, you will say, you will always lose your money at that system and the reason you will lose is that nowadays they have limits. Most limits on red and black is £10,000 and even with those kinds of limits if the red or black comes up consecutively 12 times on the trot, you would have lost a lot of money, in fact you would have reached the limit. This guy never, ever, lost, Dad was telling me. There was no limit on the red and black at the Empress Club. That’s right, no limit on the ‘even money’ chances. I mean this in itself was ludicrous and I actually asked my dad recently why was there no limit. My Dad said, that back in the early 60s all the London casinos and there were many of them, used to have no limit on the even money chances. Obviously, this in unheard of nowadays. Well this young man used to walk in and play his doubling up system. Many nights, the young man used to walk out of the Empress winning between £50 and £100 without a problem. This went on for months and months until one night, Dinos (Mr Beans), the Croupier, who I’ve mentioned before, span 17 reds on the trot! That’s right, 17 reds one after the other. The guy had done his entire cash flow all in one night and his entire winnings for the last six or seven months and when I say he lost the entire lot, this man used to walk in sometimes with £8–£10 grand. He’d lost the whole lot within the first 13 spins! That just goes to show you doubling up on the roulette is definitely not a good system. I know many gamblers that have tried it and many failed, except one, well I’ll get to that later on.

         There used to be regular poker games at the club in Haringey and just around the corner was where my grandfather and grandmother used to live. I’m telling you this for a reason, because my grandfather was very much against gambling. He accepted it with my dad because my dad always told him that it was his business but to tell you the truth he was dead against it. One night there was a very big game at the club and there came a pot between my dad and a guy named Tony and after the last card, Tony ended up with a possible straight and my dad had a pair of 10s on the show and it was my dad to bet. My dad checked to the possible straight and Tony bet the full pot £1150. This was a lot of money in the 60s and probably equivalent to £10-£12 grand in this day and age. Dad started thinking and as Dad glanced across the room, he saw my grandfather, who must have come in; just standing there watching this pot. Now Dad tells me he wanted to call Tony but he didn’t want to do it in front of my grandfather, just in case Tony had the straight. To lose £1150, probably would have given my grandfather a heart attack! The Croupier said to my dad, “Are you calling or are you passing?” My dad said, “I’m thinking.” He looked up again and my grandfather had now walked closer to the table to have a better look at this pot. So Dad said to him, “Father you couldn’t make me a cup of coffee could you?” To which he replied, “Yes in a minute I will.” Dad tells me my grandfather wouldn’t move from the table until he had seen the end of this pot. He stood there and after a couple of minutes, my dad said to the Croupier, “Pass my cards, Tony you win.” My grandfather then said to my dad, “I’ll make you that coffee now,” and he walked out of the room. My dad looked at Tony and he said to him. “Do you know what, if the ‘old man’ wasn’t here, I swear to God, I’d call your £1150 bet because I think you were bluffing, but I didn’t want to take a chance in front of the old man because if I’d called the bet and you’d had the straight, it would have killed him… and that’s why you made this bet to me because you saw my father was in the room and you knew 99% that I wouldn’t call you.” Tony turned over his hole card and he said to my dad, “Your right Max, I was bluffing… thinking about what you’ve just said, maybe, just maybe I shouldn’t play poker with you.”

         Back in 1969, we spent quite a lot of time in Plymouth, down in the south west. Dad had some very good friends down there. They had a casino, a hotel and a card club. All the family used to go down there for the summer holidays Dad popping down for three or four days at a time, as he was still running the two casinos in London.

         When he used to get down to Plymouth, his friends always used to arrange a poker game, which sometimes used to continue throughout the next day. We used to go and see Dad at the Card Club, just as they were finishing the game the next day. There was a poker player, who when he used to see me, my brother and sister walking in, we’re all about seven, eight or nine years old, he would slowly take three £5 notes from my dad’s pile and he used to craftily give them to us, when my dad wasn’t looking. I remember this quite vividly as we were only young and certain things always stick in your mind and £5 was a lot of money. A lady named Yanulla, who was a friend of my mums, whose husband was playing poker, said to my mum. “All those poker players, they are snakes in the grass, playing for two or three days at a time.” Many poker games my dad has been in at the Wembley Spinner Club used to start on Friday night and finish on Sunday afternoons, many, many times. While we are on the subject of Plymouth, Dad used to go to Torquay, quite a lot, which was about 20 miles away. He used to play very big Heads Up poker, with a guy called John. Dad tells me he had four or five very big match ‘Heads Up Poker’ games with him and he never lost.

         The reason I’m telling you this is, apparently many nights John used to host other poker games, where an English guy named Mike used to go on a regular basis. This Mike lost a small fortune. We don’t know exactly how much he lost, but a lot of people said he lost his house and he lost his business, playing in these games in Torquay. Mike the English guy found out that the games were supposedly bent. He’d heard that he had been cheated. Now whether he was or whether he wasn’t we’ll never know, but one night I can tell you this. He got himself drunk in Plymouth and he jumped in his car and he was racing along the street. He saw one of my dad’s best friends Gregory from Plymouth and Gregory said to him. “Mike! Where are you going? And Mike replied, “I’m going to kill John, I’ve heard, I’ve been cheated for the last six months.” Gregory said. “Don’t be silly Mike, you’re crazy!” Gregory was by the side of the car. Mike pulled out a gun and he said, “Let me go Gregory! I’m going to kill him. Gregory run off and jumped back in his car and Mike sped off. The police on the motorway then stopped Mike. He obviously, was going well above the speed limit. As the policeman went up to the car, Mike shot the policeman dead. He jumped back in his car and he got to the casino. Mike walked into the casino and shot the manager dead and the Croupier. I know this is all true, because Mike is still in prison, as I write this book. My friend’s uncle whose nickname was ‘Ginger’ was working at the casino at the very time this happened. He told us this story. He obviously, caught the end of the story and Gregory told me the beginning. Ginger told us the guy walked in, guns blazing, like a movie. Ginger dived under the table for cover. Needless to say, Mike was caught and sentenced to life imprisonment.

         There was another casino in Torquay and it was owned by another Greek, named Babbis. Dad told me he went in there with Rocky and Gregory, his friends, one night and the very first number Dad backed was number 16 to the maximum. This was the first bet that Dad had at the Casino that night. The ball span and landed straight into number 16. Dad took his winnings and placed all of them, on and around number 16. The ball span again, and bang straight into number 16 repetition. Babbis came over to the roulette wheel and said, “This roulette table is now closed!” Dad said, “Why?” and Babbis repeated, “I said, this roulette table is now closed!” Dad cashed in and had won about £4000 in two spins and had walked out with Rocky and Gregory within five minutes of walking in. Even in today’s casinos, floor managers are able to close any game at any time on the casino floor, if they think there is something wrong. There was nothing wrong that night, Dad was just lucky!

         The year is 1969. Dad still had the Casino in Wembley and got involved in buying some greyhounds as the Wembley Spinner Club was quite close to Wembley Dog Track. I think this was meant to be a business venture and a bit of pleasure combined. I think Dad knew at the back of his mind, that the casino he had in Wembley, had to close by June or July 1970, as the Gaming Board sat around at that time and decided to close many casinos outside the centre of London. Dad invested quite a lot of money in buying a small litter. He then decided to call them after the Wembley Spinner Club. He named one dog, ‘Spinners Club’, another, ‘Spinners Dice’, the other ‘Spinners Glory’, ‘Spinners Chance’ etc. etc., the last one was my one. My brother, sister and I had one each. My one, his real name was Bobby, but he used to run under the name of ‘Spinners Chance’. I remember that quite well, because on Sundays we used to go up to South Mimms Kennels and all of us used to spend Sunday afternoons walking the dogs for a bit of exercise. In fact we had a photo taken, which appeared in the Sporting Life. Anyway, I’ll tell you about my dog, it was an absolute donkey! It never, ever won a single race. Not one I tell you. I mean we used to go to Wembley on Saturdays, Haringey, Mondays and Fridays. We used to go to the track on a regular basis and I always used to back, maybe 20 p, or maybe 30 p. At nine years old, betting on my dog and it always finished last! Maybe that’s why I don’t really gamble nowadays, because I remember the hurtful feeling when I lost my money on my dog. Knowing my dad, he probably used to lose as well. Now on the other hand ‘Spinners Dice’ which belonged to my sister, actually won some very good graded races. I think, to cut a long story short, with all these greyhounds, reading in between the lines, it was not a very good business at all. Dad has never told us to this day. I think he lost a small fortune, following those bloody dogs! I’m not too sure, but I can tell you this, we went out for dinner not so long ago with some very close friends. Peter, one of the guys that we were with wanted to buy a dog at Walthamstow, which was being auctioned. It was in a charity event and Dad in no uncertain terms, kept on saying to him, “Don’t do it Peter, don’t do it Peter, don’t buy it, don’t buy it.” Peter was bidding and bidding and Dad was saying, “Leave it, leave it.” Dad tried to put Peter off and thankfully Peter decided not to up his offer. Dad said to Peter, “I’ve had greyhounds in the past and it’s not a very good idea.” I think if you mention the idea of buying a greyhound to my dad, he seems to be very concerned indeed.

         After Dad got rid of the dogs, he decided to have a share with a guy named Harry Bubbles at Hackney Wick dog track. Now Harry Bubbles had a pitch twice a week and he used to run a book. He was called Harry Bubbles because his main business was glass blowing and they used to call him ‘Bubbles’. In fact, he was a very successful glass blower and he had made a lot of money. So the dogs to him, was a bit of a pastime. So anyway, Dad has 50–50 with Harry Bubbles. Now the problem here was that Harry Bubbles was a compulsive gambler, he wasn’t really a bookie. Now he brings my dad in because, I think, he wasn’t doing so well, but there you’ve got my dad who is a bookmaker and a very big gambler, and Bubbles an out and out gambler, what a combination! Well I’ll tell you exactly what happens when you put that combination together. They used to stand up and take loads of money for the favourite. In fact Dad always used to go a bigger price than the rest of the bookmakers. If the favourite was evens, Dad would go 5/4. If the favourite was 7/4, Dad would go 2/1. You name it, Dad would lay bigger. Dad used to say, “Harry, lets lay this dog to the maximum.” Harry used to say, “Let’s do it Max.” Well, that’s OK but one slight thing here, they used to take all the money that they’d laid on the favourite for the race and give it to the bookmaker next door and back the second favourite! Well this as anybody in the gambling business will tell you is suicide. Dad being the bookmaker wanted to lay big and Harry being the out and out punter, wanted to bet big. This was definitely a recipe for disaster. Now sometimes in a race they didn’t used to lay any favourite money. They used to lay the second favourite or the third favourite, so what did they used to do? They used to up the price and get as much money as they could for the second or third favourite and take all the money and back the favourite! The partnership with Harry and Dad, I think lasted three months. Dad pulled out after losing week after week. I think Harry lasted another six weeks and the pitch was again available at Hackney Wick, so we’ll say no more on that subject.

         Sure enough in 1970 the casino closed. Probably, 1970–71 was quite lean times for my dad. Not that we would ever know, because we always had everything we ever needed. He could probably write his own book and more, which could cover these times in much greater detail. In 1971 we saw the opening of the SP office in North London. He is now a bookmaker by trade and a property developer. He always had his Bookmaking Licence and I think he was one of the first, if not the first Cypriot legal bookmaker in London, if not the UK. Dad used to renew his Bookmaking Licence, since the early 60s, but he never used it. Once the casino closed and the greyhounds weren’t winning, it was time to go into the ‘bookmaking business’. My brother and I used to go up to the office every Saturday and watch the afternoon racing. I had seen enough of dogs and horses by the time I was ten years old to last me a lifetime!

         1971 (at 10 years old), was a very big year for me, because this was the year that I had my first ever poker game. The games only lasted two weeks. What I didn’t realise in the next 30 years, I have never been in a poker school that has lasted more than nine months and that’s because I ended up the only winner in every school I’ve entered. The games in 1971 though were stopped for a very different reason completely. I’ll tell you why and how. We used to go to Margate for our summer holidays. In those days Margate was the place to go. You were very lucky indeed if you found a space on the beach to place your deck chair. Well anyway, we used to stay with our auntie in a very nice house and our cousin used to come over. He still lives in Margate to this day, poor fella! His name was Dassos. One day it was raining, so instead of bringing his football to play with in the garden, he bought a deck of cards. He told us he was going to play poker and the game we were going to play was Five Card Stud. I had never played before, but it came to me like second nature. Maybe because I used to sit down and watch my dad and take in all the information without me even knowing it, but at the end of three or four sessions with our cousin, I had won a lot of money, which might have only been about £10–£15 at the time, but the games were stopped. Not because I was a winner, but because my auntie found out that we were gambling for real money. She took away the cards and she said that she was going to tell my dad. “As soon as he comes to Margate, I’m going to tell him,” she said. (Meanwhile, during that summer he was involved with some very big games in London at the time and I’ll tell you about them in a minute.) But anyway, Dad came down and my Auntie told him. He pulled my brother and me into the kitchen and he looked at both of us and he said in a very stern voice, “I heard you’ve been gambling,” to which I replied cheekily as per usual, “Yeah! But I’ve been winning!” He then told both of us that, if he ever caught us playing cards again, he would make us eat the deck. Not hit the deck, eat the deck! I think those words definitely worked on my brother, because as it turned out he could never play poker. But with me, I’m afraid it had the opposite effect and it opened my appetite to play Five Card Stud for the rest of my life. Maybe it’s because I was hungrier than my brother to be a good poker player. That tells you also something about gambling, people say it’s learnt behaviour, I don’t know, some people say it’s genetic, we still don’t know. I know poker players who I do play with, they could play for the next 20 years and they never improve. Their game is always the same. There are some that improve to a certain standard and then they stay still. I think this you can apply to any sport, whether it is poker, football or tennis. Anything you do, you improve to a certain standard and then if you have a gift you go further.

         I did mention in the last story when I was on about Margate that Dad was involved in some very big games in 1971–72. They were in London and I’ll tell you about them. They were in a casino club called The Pair of Shoes. They were playing Five Card Stud and the table stakes were £2000 minimum, a lot of money! Dad told me they were very, very good action games, and very big for their time. Dad wasn’t playing in the early days, when the games had started, because of one thing and another and business commitments and what with the casino closing and other adventures he was doing. When I talk to Dad about those days, he caught the tail end of the games. He told me he was winning quite a lot of money at one stage. There was an Iranian guy over a period of a year that lost an absolute fortune. His estimated loss in one year in that game was one million pounds! His name was Hamir. Everybody on the table was winning every session twice a week. Apparently, he was an extremely open and aggressive poker player. He definitely went to the wrong table that year! He was playing against the top Five Card Stud poker players that have ever played the game. I’ll tell you their names, Israeli Simon, French Alan, Maverick, just to name a few. But as I said when Dad came in at the tail end of the game, he was also winning a lot of money, but then there came one big night, it happened on the very last hand of the night. My dad was dealt an ‘ace showing’ and an American guy was showing ‘a Queen’ and Hamir was showing ‘a 7’. So that was ace to my dad, Queen to the American and 7 to Hamir. The Ace, my dad opened for £50, the Queen raised £100, the 7 called £150. My dad re-raised the pot and the American guy and Hamir both called. There was already a couple of grand in the pot at this stage. Dad hit an 8, showing ace 8, the American guy hit a 9, showing Queen 9 and Hamir hit a King, showing 7, King. It was the ace 8 to bet. My Dad bet the full pot, about £2000. The American with the Queen 9 showing called. Hamir raised £8000 with the 7 King showing. Now to me this seems like Hamir has got a pair of Kings. When it came round to my dad, he re-raised the pot. Now I can tell you my dad had aces. Dad re-raised about £14,000. The American guy called “All in” and Hamir re-raised the rest of his money. There were two cards to come. My Dad hit an 8. Now he’s showing Ace/8/8. The American guy hit a King, he’s now has showing Queen/9/King and Hamir hit a Queen, he showed 7/King/Queen. It’s obvious now before the last card, what everybody had. Dad had aces and 8s. The American guy only had two Queens and Hamir had two Kings. With already one King and Queen out, it was going to be very difficult for my dad to lose this massive pot. Well as you know this is going to be one of those ‘bad beat’ stories because Hamir hit the very last King on the very last card to win over a £90,000 pot! He had made three Kings with the last hand of the night. The games continued but one day Hamir disappeared. Reading in between the lines he had lost an absolute fortune at the poker table and also at the same time he was playing roulette. He has never been seen since.

         In 1972–73, there were no longer these massive poker games, because any poker player will tell you, you always need a ‘star’ at the table. A ‘star’ means someone who is willing to throw his money away, and you always need one star. It isn’t any good with seven or eight professionals sitting at a table because at the end of the day, no one will get the money; you need a star to feed the table. With the disappearance of Hamir, the games lost a lot of life, they continued for a while, but they were dead. The games did continue at the Curzon House, but in those couple of years, he never went, as he had opened another gambling club in Leyton. It was in Leyton High Road, in London. With me being only 11 or 12 years old at the time, I only went there a handful of times. Dad tells me there were some very good poker games there a couple of times a week, but they were definitely not in the same league as ‘The Pair of Shoes’. Dad was with a guy called Mark (they were business partners). There used to be a full-sized snooker table on the ground floor. Apparently, Mark was a much better snooker player than my dad, when they used to play for nothing, which was very rarely the case. Mark would absolutely thrash my dad ‘out of sight’, but what they used to do, was play for £500 a game. Dad tells me, when they were playing for this kind of money, the game seemed to ‘even up’ a little bit. It just goes to show you, especially in gambling when the stakes get high, whether you are playing poker or any other sport, you might not be on top of your game when the pressure is really on. That’s not taking anything away from Mark. Dad tells me he was a fantastic and terrific gambler, with ‘a lot of bottle’ as we say. He used to gamble on many things, but it so happened on the snooker table, with the stakes being so high, it used to be a level game.

         In 1974, I remember watching the World Cup Final, Holland and West Germany. Mark and many others at the Club winning a small fortune with Germany winning the World Cup. The poker games were still going quite strong in Leyton and a small story here about my uncle. He used to deal in the poker games and get tips. As soon as he earn’t enough money dealing, what did he used to do? He used to sit down and play. I heard this story from a guy called Rocky in Plymouth very recently. My Uncle Andy and my dad were involved in a big pot together and my dad made a £500 bet at the very end of the pot. My Uncle Andy was thinking and thinking and thinking. He picked up his money and he said to my dad, “Do you know if I call this bet and I lose, I’m not going to go on holiday tomorrow?” My dad, as cool as a cucumber, looked at him emotionless and said, “Andy! You can call or you can pass!” To which my Uncle Andy stood up at the table and repeated in a louder voice. “Do you know, if I call this bet and lose I’m not going on holiday tomorrow!” to which again my dad said emotionless, “Andy! You can call or you can pass!” To which my Uncle said, “I call the bet, I call the £500.” My Dad looked at him and said…. “You’re not going on holiday tomorrow! I’ve got a straight and I’ve got you beat!” If you knew my dad, he would play poker with anyone. There are no friends on the poker table. Needless to say, and may I hasten to add, my Uncle Andy still went on holiday the next day and I think it must have been because my dad, made sure he did, if you know what I mean.

         There was another small story about my dad and my uncle at the poker table and this was on a different night when they were playing together. This time it was my uncle that made a big bet on the last card and this time it was my dad who was thinking whether to call or pass.

         The story goes like this. My dad was thinking for a minute. He then got up and walked around the table to where my uncle was sitting. Slowly my dad placed his hand on my uncle’s heart for a couple of moments. He then walked back to his seat and sat down and he said, “Andy, I pass, you’ve got me beat, I think you’ve got the winning hand, pass my cards,” he said to the dealer. So, my Uncle Andy looked up and said, “Why did you pass? I was winning, why didn’t you call the bet?” My dad replied, “Because your heart wasn’t beating fast enough!” He continued to say, “If your heart was beating fast, when I felt it, then I would have thought you were bluffing, but it wasn’t and you weren’t!”

         In the early 70s, around ’73, ’74 (around those years) Dad still had the lease for the Casino, which had now closed. He gave my uncle Ron a couple of nights to run as a nightclub. He used to run it as a disco, Thursday, Friday and Saturday nights. Never earn’t a penny never could get it off the ground! Who’s going to go to a disco in Wembley in the early 70s? Uncle Ron never knew what to do! Dad never knew what to do. Uncle Ron came up with a great idea. This idea he had, had never been done in London, especially in Wembley. He turned it into one of London’s first Reggae Clubs. Twice a week Fridays and Saturdays were Reggae Nights. He used to tell me he got on with everybody. Everybody loved my Uncle Ron. They used to come in from South London, North London, and East London. All the people used to love the Reggae Nights with my Uncle Ron. My Uncle Ron got good DJs in and the nights all of a sudden, were ‘kicking’. Many times there was trouble at the Club, my Uncle Ron was in the middle. He was the peacemaker. Any problems, see Uncle Ron! There was a bit of trouble one night, two guys had had an argument in the toilet of the club and one of the guys who wasn’t known as a trouble-maker at all, said to my uncle Ron, “I’m going to kill that man tomorrow, he’s upset me.” That’s all that was said. Apparently, as the story goes, the next day he walked into a betting shop in South London and stabbed the guy dead. There was frequently trouble at the Wembley Reggae Club and slowly, slowly I think Uncle Ron had had enough. It closed its doors for the last time. That was the end of the Wembley Spinner Casino and the Wembley Reggae Club.

         In 1974, saw me going to a new school. It was in Swiss Cottage, in Eton Avenue. It was a very small school with approximately a couple of hundred pupils. I was 13 at the time and in lunchbreaks when it was raining, we used to have to stay in the classroom and entertain ourselves. Sometimes people used to go from class to class. I used to pop into the fifth year and I made a friend and his name was Hamid. What I did notice about the fifth-year pupils was that on their lunchbreaks, which they spent inside, they used to play cards. I used to watch them for five or ten minutes and I realised that they were playing Five Card Stud and it seemed to me that there was one girl in particular; her name was Michelle, who used to be a regular winner. I asked a couple of times, if I could sit down and play, but I was always refused because I was only a third year and 13 years old, they were 15 and 16. Sometimes they used to play six or seven handed and there used to be some very good games, with the pots going up to £10–£20 a time. This was a lot of money, as I was only getting £1.50 pocket money. I had to find an angle to get in the games. After a couple of months, I found a way. I asked Hamid to sit down, who by the way was a non-gambler and a non-poker player to play for about ten minutes. I then walked in, started watching as per usual, he would complain of a headache and suggested that I sit down and play for him. In fact it was my money and I was going to play for myself. Well this worked a treat. Hamid played for about 15 minutes. He was losing about £4–£5. I suggested that I play for Hamid. They weren’t keen at first, but I said. “Hey! I’ve never played poker before, give me a chance.” I lost £10 but this was not on purpose. I feel even today, even when I play poker that when I sit down with a new school, sometimes it takes me a couple of sessions to get the feel of the players. Not always, but sometimes. This can work big time in your favour and all poker players out there know this, if you go into a new poker school and you win all the money for the first few times, you won’t be welcome.

         Well, I’m going to tell you later on in the book, I’ve gone into a few poker games and maybe broke even or lost some money the first time, but this is not on purpose. This is genuine; you need to get the feel of the cards and the players. You know that in any poker schools, once you’ve lost a couple of times, they want you back. This always works out well and it’s worked out financially very well for me in the last 30 years.

         Now I was in the games at school. The games started taking place, every single afternoon, when we were meant to be out in the playground, we were inside playing poker. I started to win the money. I was always a better player than the others, but I really wanted to improve my game much further, so one day I decided to go to Tottenham Court Road into Foyle’s bookshop and look for a book on Five Card Stud. Well needless to say, I couldn’t find anything beneficial and today there is a very limited market. As we all know it’s played on a very limited basis. Unlike today you can find books and software on Hold’em, Omaha, Seven Card Stud and the literature and information you can get is invaluable. I believe you could get any kid off the street today, who’s half intelligent, give him some software, give him some books to read and I say after three weeks he could be an average poker player, this could never happen in our day. You would have to learn the hard way, but I was lucky enough to sit behind my dad in my younger years and get the book information and the software, by watching and learning. (Notice that I didn’t say that you can get any kid off the street and he could become a strong player, but I did say average}.

         I used to go home after school and I started to talk to my dad about poker and started asking him certain things. Now I had to be very careful, as poker was a touchy subject, if you remember what happened in Margate and I didn’t want to eat any cards! He mentioned to me that he was still playing every Saturday, down the Empress Club in Haringey and if I wanted to pop down and watch him, I could, but I felt that this was never going to happen as the games used to start about mid-night. What I discovered was, they never used to finish until about 5–6 pm on the Sunday the next day. I used to get up on Sunday morning and walk down to the club and I remember thinking, “I hope the games are still continuing, I hope the action is still on.” Sure enough, many Sundays at midday the games were in full flow. I used to sit behind my dad and really concentrate on what was going on. The players he used to get down there were very strong Five Card Stud players, so here I had found my own ‘real live’ software. Probably, something that no one could ever get the experience of. What I received in that year was invaluable. I was now going to school every day, winning most of the money, most of the time, and my game had dramatically improved. The players at school seemed to be getting weaker and weaker, but it was me who was improving tremendously. It was Monday to Friday, poker at school and ‘Sunday lessons’ with Dad down in Haringey. This went on easily for a couple of years.

         I want to tell you that one time when I went down to the club – I walked in, Dad was sitting in seat number two and in seat number three, there was this big guy, with big hair and a big beard and he just seemed huge! He was massive in frame and he was scary to look at. In fact, he looked like one of those scary characters out of a horror movie. His eyes always used to pop out of his head when he used to play on the poker table. He was one of the most fearless gamblers that ever lived, who used to call any amounts of money, raise many pots and as many people know too fearless at poker means that you are going to lose. They might lose, but they sure will scare the hell out of you at some stage. Well that’s how I felt about this man. His name was Velli. Anyway, I walked into the club one Sunday and I sat behind my dad as per usual. As I said Velli was sitting on my dad’s left and there came a pot of one of the biggest pots that I have ever seen, with my own eyes, with the cash on the table at that time. Velli was £25 blind and my dad was £50 over blind. Everybody passed. Velli called the £25 with a 10 showing. The blind card was a Jack to my dad. My dad raised the pot, which was £100, Velli called. Velli hit a 9 to give him showing 10/9. Dad hit a 10 to give him Jack/10. My dad bet the pot £300. Velli called. Now there was £900 in the middle with two cards to come. Velli hit an Ace to show 10/9/Ace and Dad hit a ten to give him showing Jack/10/10. Again my dad bet the pot £900. I remember Velli thinking some time about this bet, which was very unlike him because he was really the kind of player that never used to think more than two seconds! So I thought to myself, that Velli must have hit the Aces. He then called the £900. That put £2700 in the middle. The last card was now to come. Velli hit an 8, he now had showing 10/9/Ace/8. He had a possible bottom straight with a 7 in the ‘hole’ and Dad hit a Jack. So Dad ended up showing Jack/10/10/Jack. Even though I was sitting behind my dad, I had not seen my dad’s hole card or closed card. I had no idea what my dad had. There was £2700.in the pot. My Dad looked at Velli, Velli looked at my dad. Velli had a possible straight, my dad had two pairs showing, but with a possible Full House. Dad said “Check Velli, check to your possible straight.” Velli looked at my dad. His eyes were bulging, his beard and his hair were big, bushy and sweaty. He paused for a second. That was more like Velli. He then said in loud words. “I bet the pot,” in a strange Turkish/Cypriot accent, £2700, I will never forget it. I started to get nervous, because Velli was an intimidating character for someone my age. Dad then looked right back in his eyes, stood up and said. “Call and raise the pot!” Now that’s £7100. Velli stood up and he was glaring at my dad, I felt I wanted to leave! You had these two players standing up looking at each other. It was like out of a movie, but now there was about £14,000 in the pot and this was really happening! Velli was thinking about the last bet my dad had made. Velli started to slowly count the cash. In those days it was all cash. He said to the dealer. “I’ve got £5800 left, I call the bet.” Velli slowly turned over his ‘hole’ card and it was a 7 of Clubs, he had the straight! He had the bottom straight. My Dad then slowly turned over his card. It was the Jack of Clubs, which made a ‘Full House’ and as everybody knows, a ‘Full House’ beats a straight at poker. My Dad had won over £17,000. My heart was beating fast. Velli then sat down and he slowly turned around and looked at me and he said in his very unusual broken Turkish/Cypriot/English accent “Hey boy! Do you play poker?” To which I replied, with a stutter “Um! Um! No! Mr Velli, I! I! Don’t play poker.” He then said with his eyes still bulging “One day you will play poker and I will skin you like your dad is skinning me.” Dad said to him “Leave the boy alone Velli, leave the boy alone, I tell you!” I will never forget those words, because Velli and I were going to meet on the poker table some 11–12 years later, but I’ll tell you that later on in the book. Dad used to play him in match poker, Heads Up, on many, many occasions and the game used to be very, very big. Dad told me that they played eight or nine times. Velli had only won once and I assure you that when they used to play Heads Up poker,they were massive games. It was not unusual for Velli to run out of cash, to be doing £10 grand and to make a phone call and a carrier bag would show up in the club with a person delivering it and there always used to be a minimum of £10 grand in there! Velli used to go to my dad’s games on a Friday or a Saturday, that used to finish Sunday night, and my dad used to go to Velli’s games on a Tuesday, which were down the road and they used to finish on a Wednesday. Sometimes the game used to go down to four, maybe three or even two players. Well I’ll give you £100, if you can guess whom the two players were left at the table together! It was my dad and Velli and they used to always end up Heads Up.

         Another time I went down to the club, I sat behind my dad as usual. The minimum opening bet used to be £5 or £10, maybe £20 blinds and then there used to be an over blind. There was this guy, who came in one time and he sat down with a couple of grand. He had a bunch of thirty to forty £1 notes in front of him, with the rest of his money. Every time he used to make his opening bet, he would open for £2 or £3. This made the game a lot smaller. So what my dad did, every time he got hold of the £1 notes in front of him, he used to slowly take them off the table and slip them to me behind him. This was great because I remember that day; I ended up with about £35 in £1 notes! This was a lot of money for me, but effectively what he used to do was make the game bigger. As there were not so many £1 notes on the table, so people had to open for £5. Or £10 and it certainly stopped this guy opening for £1 or £2.

         Another Sunday, I got down there quite early in the morning and there was this guy who used to stand up and say “This is my last hand, I’m going to play, because I have a wedding to go to this afternoon.” After the hand he used to sit back down, play the next hand and in 20 minutes, he used to get up and say, “This is my last hand, I’ve got a wedding to go to.” Then he used to sit back down to carry on playing. Well this went on for a couple of hours and all we kept on hearing about was the wedding he had to go to. Finally, Dad looked up at him and said, “What’s this wedding you’ve got to go to, it can’t be that important”? He looked up and said. “It is very important, it’s mine and I’m leaving in ten minutes!” Well needless to say he didn’t leave after ten minutes, but I can tell you he left at 1pm in the afternoon. Whether he got to the church on time, I’ll never know.

         Meanwhile, poker was going fine at school and I built up a nice few quid in savings. The biggest problem that I now would face was getting regular games, they were slowing down. They weren’t every afternoon like they used to be. We were lucky to get them twice a week and then after a while once a week. Over the next 18 months they died, no poker at school.

         I’d played a couple of times Heads Up with a Spanish guy called Ricardo and after a while he got fed up losing his money and I think that was the final straw. He told everybody that I was too good and that they would never win. There was a girl named Julia, whose father was a very good Seven Card Stud poker player, who could also play Five Card Stud as he had done with my dad. He told Julia, “Your friends won’t have a chance with that Steve, his father is a top Five Card Stud poker player and obviously, he has learnt a lot from his dad. So tell your friends at school to cut their losses while they can.” This spread around the school and that was the final nail in the coffin for the poker games. The only game after all these events was with the maths teacher who decided to challenge me one day after school. We played four or five times and he ended up losing £100 and he even called it a day and that was the maths teacher.

         So now, I faced a small dilemma, what to do at lunchbreaks? No poker, no action, no money coming in. I ended up going to the shops and buying a very small mini roulette wheel. It was one of those play roulettes, it was about five inches in diameter and it had a small spread with numbers on it, with a tiny ball, that used to spin around. To tell you the truth, the wheel used to go round so fast with the ball in it, you couldn’t even see the number the ball landed in until you stopped the wheel! Anyway, I took it into school one day and I decided to give it a try at lunchbreaks. There was me spinning the roulette wheel at my desk and two or three pupils having some small bets. Within a couple of days, it really took off in a big way. The only problem we had was because they were all betting in small coins, pennies, ten-penny bits, sometimes there were arguments of, who had what, on which number, but we got it all sorted out. I used to lay them a maximum of 25 pence per number, which would take out about £9. And with five or six players playing sometimes the same number, sometimes the liability was quite big but everyone wanted to bet with me, because they always knew I was fair and that they always got paid. After about three or four months of Roulette every day, one morning, I went into school and the Roulette had disappeared. No one knew what had happened to it. It turned up back at my desk about three days later. I didn’t think too much of it. I thought, maybe someone had borrowed it, used it, but what was about to happen, I wasn’t really ready for… It was lunch time and I got the roulette out and I started spinning as usual, but what I did notice was that six or seven people wanted to play that day and they were all backing the number 17, one spin after another. After five spins, number seventeen came up, I ended up paying about £30/£40 out. After another 10 to 15 spins, 17 came up. I paid out again. After another five or ten spins 17 came up again. I smelt a rat. I stupidly increased the limit and the very next spin; there was about £7 straight up on number 17. Now if this came in, it comes to over £200. As I span the wheel the ball was flying round the roulette wheel. All of a sudden, the classroom door came flying open. Five teachers came running in. One grabbed the roulette wheel, one grabbed the layout, then one grabbed the money and one grabbed me. It was like a raid from the police. Except it was the Geography, Science, Maths and French teachers! They took me into the staff room and told me that I would be getting expelled for all my gambling activities as the Head Mistress had heard what had been going on for the last couple of years. I personally think that it was the maths teacher, as he had it in for me after he lost that £100! I was told that I had to go immediately to see our Head Mistress, who by the way was a minimum of 80 years old and her English wasn’t that good as she always spoke to us in French. She wanted to see me straight away. I said to the maths teacher “Look, can I cut a deal?” He looked puzzled. I said, “Look, I’ll give you back your £100 Sir! I’ll even give £100 to ‘Save The Children Fund’, if you can save me from being expelled.” He said he was unable to do that as it was the Head Mistress herself, who knew that I was the main instigator for the entire gambling going on in the school and I was responsible that most of the school were not doing their French homework! Sounds crazy doesn’t it, but she was. I got into her office and she told me she was ringing my father and mother and she was going to arrange to see them in the next couple of days. I got home that night and I was a little bit scared, nothing was said. Got to school the next day, nothing was mentioned. Got home that night, again nothing was said. A couple of weeks went by and everything seemed to go quiet on the matter. Until one lunchbreak I was called to her office. I walked in, there sitting on the settee was my father. Now I knew that the heat was really on. She started telling my father and me that my French was appalling, my French homework was not being done and my attitude was very nonchalant. She was saying that I don’t speak enough French, I don’t read enough French, that when we were doing our French lessons I didn’t pay attention. It was French, French, and French! She went on and on for one hour. I cannot believe right up until this day, that she never ever mentioned any of the gambling activities. When I got home that night, Dad spoke to me and told me that I had to buckle up and get some more work done if I wanted to be any good in life. Even now until reading this book, he didn’t know what we got up to in school. When I got back to school, everything seemed back to normal. Nothing was ever mentioned about the gambling and the poker. Well I have to tell you a little bit about this Head Mistress. As I said earlier, she must have been about 85 years old, going on 100 and I can tell you she wouldn’t even remember your name! In fact the secretary told me some time later, she had asked why she was seeing Steve’s father and the secretary didn’t even know, so that’s how I got away with all this. I faced another problem; there was a new rule in school. Every single break everybody and I mean everybody had to be in the playground. There was a master that went round to every single classroom and made sure that everybody was out doors and no one was in the class. No exceptions bar none! This was obviously a problem for me as there was no way we could play poker outdoors. I came up with one idea, but before I go into that there was an Israeli guy called Ares, who finally told me what happened to my roulette wheel, on those couple of days it had disappeared. He said two pupils took it home, (I think he was one of them, but he didn’t own up to that), they span it consistently over two days and they had found out that the roulette wheel had a ‘bias’, which means number 17 was favoured heavily. Hence, that’s why I lost that money that day, just before the raid! This all made sense now.

         Well once we were in the playground obviously, there was not too much that we could do. There was a guy named Villas, an Indian guy, he bought in a deck of cards one day and decided to play Draw Poker. Now, he said Draw Poker would be a good idea, as the cards didn’t have to go down onto the floor, so they wouldn’t get dirty. Well I played Draw Poker for about two days, I lost money and I never played again. I maintained in life that, if I lose two or three times at something, I give it up. If you can’t make money then why play?! So I decided to go a little bit cool on Draw Poker, it wasn’t my game. Then no one really wanted to play Draw Poker. They all wanted to play Stud, they wanted to play roulette but obviously, as you know all avenues were now blocked. The other idea that I had for the playground as we had a lot of pupils, that now liked to have a gamble, and were itching to have a bet, was out of the blue we decided to play Penny Up The Wall. Every lunchtime it was no longer poker or roulette but Penny Up. After three or four weeks of Penny Up, I was dead even. Not winning or losing. Now to me this is a waste of time. I therefore decided to place a small ‘edge’ to my action. I ran upstairs to the classroom for some chalk, I went back to the playground and drew a semicircle against the wall of about eight inches in radius. Next to it I drew a slightly smaller semicircle against the wall, about four inches, the third semicircle was even smaller. I put ‘even money’ on the largest one, 3/1 on the middle one and 5/1 on the smallest one. Now the name of the game was whoever came up with the money in their hand, had to nominate the circle they were going to throw into, and they would get the offered odds. All of a sudden there were queues of pupils lining up to bet! It was a new variation of Penny Up and it wasn’t long before a lot of people had lost a lot of money over the next month. I arrived at school one day and I noticed that at the opposite end of the playground, two pupils Hans and Elliot were their names, had started up their own Penny Up corner, offering bigger and better odds. All of a sudden I had competition! I didn’t complain, because I had been winning a lot of money over the last month, so I decided to go over to them and give them a ‘spin’. I pulled out a 50 p piece and nominated their smaller circle, which was 10/1. I then threw the coin and it landed straight bang in the middle of the circle, as luck would have it. Their faces, I still remember to this day, were a picture and they had to pay me £5, which they did, all in tenpenny pieces! I think I wiped out all their cash and float for the next week. They weren’t able to operate for the next two or three days, so I took over the action once more. After a while the game slowly died as no one was winning any money and my nick name became Mr Money Bags, as everybody could hear me walking along, as the change rattled in my school blazer!

         We used to finish school about four o’clock and after school, there used to be a place in Swiss Cottage on the Finchley Road called Emmanuelle Restaurant. Now I’ll tell you about Emmanuelle Restaurant, it was an all night restaurant that used to open until 6 am. What I didn’t find out until possibly 10–15 years later was that an Iranian guy, called Kuros owned it. Kuros was the same guy, who used to play poker at Wembley with my dad in the 60s. Anyway, at the back of Emmanuelle Restaurant there used to be a pool table. I was invited by a couple of pupils, who used to go there regularly. They used to play a couple of older guys, who worked in the Swiss Chalet pub down the road, and as I had a small snooker table at home, I wasn’t all that bad for a 15 year old. I went along to play for maybe £1–£2 a game, but the ‘grownups’ wanted to play for £10 a game. That was a little bit steep for me because, if I lost a few games, I would be down £50–£60, and I didn’t know how good they were. The first two games we played, I ended up winning £20. So from then on I decided to play on with my winnings and we regularly played four to five games every night after school, before I went home by tube. Over the next seven months I won about £300.

         At around this time, I still used to visit the club down in Haringey. It seemed to me that even Dad’s games were tailing off. Now this was a real big disappointment to me because my weekend pocket money seemed to be drying up as well. I asked my dad, what was happening to the games? He explained to me that usually in poker schools, the maximum the school usually stays together is a couple of years and then slowly what with one thing and another, there are winners, losers, some people leave and the games dry up. So this was a real bummer for me because Sunday mornings for me were like Sunday school.

         When I was 15, I used to go Saturday night roller-skating at Pickets Lock and I used to make sure I was home for Match Of The Day on TV. At the time there was a Saturday Late Night Movie, and then nothing else to look forward to as there was now no poker on Sunday mornings. Well one Saturday night, I got home and after watching the movie, which used to finish around one o’clock in the morning, out of the blue, Dad said to me “Do you fancy going for a drive?” Now here’s me thinking, where can we be going at one o’clock in the morning? Of course, I didn’t refuse. He told me to wear my high heels, which were fashionable for men at that time, by the way! But I was still mystified. He told me to put my glasses on. I put my glasses on; I still didn’t know where we were going. We were driving down the West End at about 1.15 am, well I’ll tell you; we ended up at a casino called Charlie Chester’s. Charlie Chester’s casino was in Soho, it’s now closed. It was one of the original casinos in the heart of the West End and it used to have 24-hour action, until 1970. After that, it closed at 4 am. It attracted people from all walks of life and it was a little bit of a dive. Here I am, at 15 years old with all this gambling going on. Now one thing with Charlie Chester’s, it had to be closed by 2 am on Saturday nights. The other Casinos were 3. But inside certain areas some Casinos were still 2. So by the time we got down there, it was about 1.30. Dad only used to play roulette for half an hour. The maximum time he would play is an hour if we got down there earlier. Well I can tell you this, we went to this casino every week for the maximum an hour on a Saturday Night for ten months and not one Saturday we ever lost. We had 100% win record, which I still find unbelievable. Every week Dad used to go there and win between £500 and £2000! Every time my dad won, he used to give me between £20 and £50, a lot of money for me.

         I think this is the main reason why I’ve never ever played in casinos throughout the years. Whenever I was a youngster or right up until my twenties, when I went to the casino with my dad and he used to win, he used to look after everybody who was with him that night. £50 for him, £100 for him, £25 for him, everybody got looked after when my dad won. When he used to lose, nobody got anything. So I thought, what’s the point of playing? All I would want to do is funk for my dad to win, so we would all end up winners! So, why play myself? Sometimes I’ve spent £20 or £30, when I go outside London for fun, but I’ve never had the appetite to play roulette and sometimes when I lose that £20, I really get the hump.

         Back at school for the last six months of my education, which was around 1977, there was nothing going on, and I mean nothing, except for lessons of course! One day we had a tip for the Miss World Contest. Someone came up to me and he wanted to back Miss Sweden and he said “I want £5 on Miss Sweden, to win at 16/1 in the Miss World Contest.” Then another person came to me and said that he wanted to back £5 on Miss Sweden at 16/1. Then another person came and he wanted £2 and all of a sudden, everybody wanted to back Miss Sweden for the Miss World Contest! The only person that could take their bets was me! I took all the bets. The problem here was that I ended up with about £60 on Miss Sweden. It was 16/1. I then found out it was a tip that George Best was seeing her and she was going to win the Miss World Contest. I now wanted to pass some of the bet over to a bookmaker. Now the nearest betting shop, to my school in Eton Avenue, Swiss Cottage was the Joe Coral Shop, which is still there today on the Finchley Road, not far from the Uube Ttation. Now the problem was, how was I going to get into the shop and lay this bet off?! I did not look 18 years old. Now, as I said earlier, there was a Spanish guy that I used to play Heads Up poker with, his name was Ricardo, I gave him a couple of quid (he was a big guy, I’m sure he didn’t look 18 but he definitely looked older than me.) I got him to run to the Coral Betting Shop and to put the bet on. He came back and said he got 18/1. Well I returned everybody 18/1 for their bets and I had a couple of pounds on for myself. Sure enough, that night, Miss Sweden won the Miss World Competition. All the 4th, 5th and 6th year pupils were really happy. I got them their bets on and I paid them their winnings and they were absolutely ecstatic. So, I was popular at school, after all.

         During the summer holidays, we had eight weeks off. Four of those weeks, I used to go down to Margate to stay with my brother, who was living on the top of my dad’s betting shop, in a flat. My brother used to run the shop in the day and at night times, many times, he used to take me out and we used to go to nightclubs. One of the nightclubs was named Crackers. He used to sneak me in through the back. We used to wear two white tee shirts, one named Steve and one named Mick and also Margate ‘Kiss Me Quick’ and ‘Kiss Me Slowly’ hats. It was the time of the number one single ‘Young Hearts Run Free’ by Candy Staton and it was 1977. This was fantastic for me, because no one knew what time I went to bed and no one knew what time I got up! During the days, me and a friend of mine, his name was Andy Florides (his family used to have a fish & chip shop there and I still keep in touch with him to this day) used to get to the bowling alley and play American pool. There used to be some Arabians studying in the town at the time. We used to play them for £5–£10 a game and it was quite easy for me to make £15–£20 a day beating them. My pool was getting quite good at the time and I was improving rapidly and this was to play a big part in the next couple of years of my gambling activities. I started work in the September of 1977 and opposite my dad’s office in Haringey was a snooker hall. I left school in 1977; at the age of 16, but I must tell you about my 16th birthday.

         We all went to a Greek Taverna in the West End and we had a big party. Dad had a friend named Mario who came over from Cyprus to join us. Now, we were all in this bouzouki place and Mario was drinking and drinking and every time he had a double scotch, he used to wrap up a £20 note and throw it at me across the room, to the end of the table where I was sitting and say “Happy birthday Stevie, happy birthday Stevie.” I ended up with £360 in £20 notes from Mario, so you can imagine the amount of scotch he drank that night! After we left the restaurant, everyone worse for wear, we decided to go to a leading London casino. We all ended up on the Dice table, with Dad and his friends playing. Well no one could ‘make a number’ that night and everybody was losing their money. As the dice came around to my dad, he said “I pass the dice.” He then looked at me and said “Stevie, you throw them.” I had never thrown dice before, so I was what they call a ‘first timer’. I picked up the dice and I threw them. I hit number after number. I made ‘pass after pass’, which means ‘a winner’ in dice terms. I’d got to an ‘eight-timer’, which means I’d made eight numbers on the trot and everybody had absolutely thousands of pounds running on the next point, which was a ten. There was about £300 on the hard ten, which means you had to find two 5s on the dice. It seemed like 20 minutes I was looking for this ten and then boom! Two magical 5s came up. We all had won a fortune. I threw 13 passes that night, that means 13 good numbers. I was throwing the dice for an hour and 15 minutes. I can honestly say, that to this day, I’ve never thrown three passes since. If ever I go to Vegas I play dice for fun, I throw a number, then 7 loser, a number then 7 loser. This was an unforgettable and unbelievable 16th birthday for me because I ended up with about £700. Every time I picked up the dice that night and when I was going to throw with every throw all the table started singing “Happy Birthday to you, happy birthday to you!” It was like a comedy sketch.

         This was the year that I was going to start work with my dad. He was a bookmaker and he had an office in Haringey. He said to me, “Before you start work in September, have a good summer holiday and be ready for work!” In the Credit Office or the SP Office, you have to be 16 years old. Before this, my mum, sister and I decided to take a holiday for the first time ever and go to Los Angeles. It was an eye-opening experience to go to America for the first time and see a whole different culture. When we got to LA, we did the usual tourist things. Disney, Universal, etc. While we were there mum arranged a Triangle Trip. Los Angeles, San Francisco, Las Vegas and back to LA. This was going to be the first of many trips that you will hear of my experiences in Las Vegas. The only problem that I knew that I would have, was that I was only 16 years old and for Vegas, 21 is the minimum age, but I was still getting very excited indeed. We got to Vegas and spent four nights in The Hilton, off The Strip. It’s where Elvis used to perform and I do believe we missed him by a week or two, not knowing that we would never be able to see him again. When we stepped out of the hotel, we didn’t know where to go, so we flagged down a cab from outside and we told the cab driver, “We’re from London, it’s the first time we’ve been to Las Vegas, we want you to show us Vegas!” and he said “No problem! Buddy,” in his American accent, “Is there anywhere in particular that you want to go?” I said, “No, anywhere!” Well he took us along the strip; he took us to see the ‘Dunes’ and the ‘Sands’ which are no longer there. The hotels were very impressive for their time. He also took us to see Caesars. The Strip was nowhere built up as it is today. This cab driver took us everywhere. He took us Down Town and when we went past the Nugget, they used to have $1,000,000 in cash in the front window, Yep! $1,000,000 in cash! Right in front of your eyes! That was a sight to see. Well this cab driver, took us everywhere. He took us to so many places, he even took us outside his old high school and he said “Hey folks! That’s where I went to school,” can you believe it? Well we were running around in this cab for maybe a couple of hours. The taxi bill came to about $70, but it was money well spent and we were very pleased with our ‘tour guide’. Once we got back to the hotel, we managed to see Liberace, who was appearing at the hotel at the time. He was an extraordinary character. Now the thing for me being in Vegas was, how was I going to have a gamble? The law is 21 and they always ask for ID, but I had an angle. I gave my sister $5, who by the way was only 18 at the time and she used to go and play the slots. Well this was no good, because she would not stop when I wanted her to stop! And then I’m signalling her to change machines and she wouldn’t change machines and slowly that system didn’t work. She drove me mad! It caused an argument, so I thought what the hell! I’m going to have a go myself. What I didn’t realise was that in the short term on the slots in Vegas, you are able to win. Some of them have a 98% return. I would never have believed that, I always thought, the slots were like Margate or Southend gambling slots, you never win, but in Vegas, you can win on slots in the short term. It’s only in the long term that at the end of the day, the casino always gets your money. Some slots are 99.5% return and I think that’s better than playing roulette or craps, except if you are playing craps 100 times the odds, but I’ll go into that later on. I finished my first trip in Vegas about $140 dollars up. Maybe this was a sign of things to come. To go to Vegas for the first time and win was great. In fact, all of my trips to Las Vegas…… well I’ll let you know later on, how I did. Vegas is a great place! Mind you, Vegas is a great place if you are winning! I know people who go to Vegas and hate it but they still keep on going back and they still keep losing. It was a fantastic experience for me to go to America, as I said, to see the way they live. I ended up living in Los Angeles for a couple of years later on in my life. Vegas was only 45 minutes away. By the time I got to LA in the 90s, a lot of Card Clubs had opened and a lot of them were playing Five Card Stud! Another subject that I’ll go into later on.

         A month later, I was back in London and work was to begin. Now as you know, or might not know, horse racing does not usually start until 2 pm in the summer and maybe 1 pm in the winter. Dad always wanted us in one hour before the first race, so this used to give me plenty of time to spend across the road at the snooker hall. I got to know a couple of people that used to go and spend a lot of time there. In the snooker hall there used to be a couple of fruit machines to gamble on. There was no way; I would ever go near those things, as it said in the small print, there was a 75% return, to me this was a bad bet. I’d been in Vegas and you could get 98–99%, but what I did do, not being a bad American Pool player, I started to practice my snooker. So when I started playing, within the first couple of months I improved rapidly. After two or three months, I was making 25–30 breaks. We used to play for a couple of pounds a game and if I used to play somebody better than me, I always used to receive a handicap, if I could get the fair handicap, I can get a fair bet on! I was playing snooker for three to four hours a day. A couple of hours before racing, a couple of hours after. One day out of the blue, I walked into the snooker hall about 6 pm, just after work, the regular faces were there, and they were playing cards. They asked me if I wanted to play, which I said, “Deal me in.” The only problem was, they weren’t playing poker, they were playing a game called Kalooki. Now I’ve never played this game before. They were playing 2/4/8. To me, I didn’t understand this. I was told it was similar to Rummy. You got to put £2, £4 and £8 etc. I was going with the flow. Well going with the flow, cost me £100. They told me it was the same as rummy, but I realised that Kalooki was more than just rummy, I decided to call it a day. They wanted me to play on. I said I would, on one condition, if we could change the game to poker! Now poker was never played in the snooker hall, so a couple of players hadn’t played it before, but a few had. Some agreed and some didn’t, but within half an hour, with me not playing Kalooki, we changed the game to Five Card Stud Strip Deck Poker! We started to deal, we started opening for £2 and £5 and the game got rather big. Within a week the games got so regular day after day, there used to be no more seats for new players. It was Monday to Friday poker, just like the old days! I started to win money. My dad knew that I was spending more and more time in the snooker hall and he said to me, “I hope you are not playing those fruit machines, I’m telling you, you can’t win on those machines” I said, “Dad I’m not playing those fruit machines, I’m playing snooker.” What he didn’t know was that we were playing poker, he didn’t even know that I could play.

         For the next six months, I was a regular winner at the games at 16 and a half years old. Slowly, slowly the games died. They died a death and after a while no one wanted to play poker anymore at the snooker hall. They went back to their Kalooki. “Uh! We don’t want to play poker anymore,” they all said, there seemed to be only one winner. Guess who that was? In fact, there was one other winner; his name was ‘Dave The Roof ’. When no one used to turn up, I used to end up playing Dave, not poker, but snooker! We used to play for a couple of hours. He used to give me 18 start, we might play for £5 a game. It used to be quite a level game, but I always fancied beating Dave the Roof with 18 start. After one of our regular sessions of snooker, one night with Dave, everyone was at the bar and they all said, “Steve, maybe can play poker, sure he’s winning money at poker, but when he plays snooker and he’s under pressure, he doesn’t play the same game.” Now a lot of people who gamble, usually, either they’ve got the ‘bottle’ or they don’t, but one thing I can say at 43 years of age, I play many sports and I think bottle and confidence come with experience and age and when you’re under pressure, sometimes you can crack. At poker I’ve never cracked, but on the snooker table, sometimes, I could crack, but that comes with experience. The conversation came up that if Steve played for big money, he would ‘go to pieces’. I heard this conversation and I said I don’t think I would. Now I thought I was talking a good fight, because if I played for big money I didn’t really know what my game would be like. Dave turned around in front of everyone and said, “I’ll give you 14 start, best of 21 frames. The first person to get to eleven frames gets £1000.” The place went quiet. I really didn’t know what to say to Dave. He said, “Steve, if you’ve got the bottle.” Now you’ve got to read deeper into this, Dave The Roof, always had a little bit of the ‘needle’ with me. I always felt that he didn’t really like me. As he said to me one day, and I’ll never forget this, “Steve, I’ve got more bottle and more guts in my little finger than you’ve got in your whole body.” That stuck in my mind, so three or four months later, he challenged me for £1000 in front of everybody. I said, “A 14 start Dave, what you don’t want to give me 18?” He said, “No! I think with an 18 start, you could beat me, but at 14, I’ll beat you for the £1000.” Now I’m going to be honest with you, this was a huge amount of money for me to bet at 16 years old. I didn’t want to decline the offer, I said to him, “You’re on!” This was around August/September 1977, but we set the date for January 14th 1978. I went home, I spoke to my dad about it and I told him about the challenge and exactly how it was laid down to me, in front of people. I said to my dad, “I can only put down £500.” Dad replied to me, “No problem son, I’ll put down the other £500, do you think you can beat him?” I replied, “Dad, it’s going to be tough, but I think I can.” The match was on. Everyone in the snooker hall started talking about the £1000 match. Meanwhile, I thought it would be a very good idea to get in some practice. I started practicing many hours by myself, because I figured out that if I could improve by 14 points within six months, I would have the beating of Dave.

         One day someone went to go and see my dad and he told him, “Max I know your son is playing a lot of snooker. It would be very useful for him if he goes up to a snooker hall called Ronnie Gross’s in Neasden.” Dad said to me when I was in the office, “If you’re not doing anything on Friday, I will take you up to this snooker hall.” I said, “Why dad, what’s so special about this snooker hall?” Dad replied, “I’ve been told that the top amateurs and a few professionals get up to this snooker hall.” On the Friday, dad drove me up to Neasden and we went up the stairs and we were introduced to Ronnie Gross. Dad knew someone that knew him from Wembley Dogs. He recognised Dad also from the dog stadium. Ronnie was introduced to me and he was actually a very good amateur. He said, “Nice to meet you Steve, I’ll get you a game straight away.” Dad stayed up the first night. Ronnie called a young man over, who was about 18 or 19 and he said, “Tony you’re knocking by yourself give Stevie here a game.” Well, I was playing with this guy; I can only say to you he was one of the most gifted snooker players that has ever lived. His name was Tony Meo. We played about 12 games of snooker that night. I used to break, he used to move in and make an 80 break. We used to set the balls up again. He used to break and I used to make a small break, he used to go in and clear the table. Out of the 12 games we played that night, without exaggeration he must of made three 100s, a couple of 80s and the rest were 60s and 70s. I think out of all the professionals that were around in the late 70s and 80s Tony Meo was the most gifted professional. In my opinion the problem Tony had was that when it was the big tournaments and the cameras were there, he never seemed to reproduce that unbelievable magic he had. I started going up to Ronnie Gross’s snooker hall very regularly. All day on a Sunday, I used to get up there from 10 am and I used to play for eight hours. My snooker was coming on really well. Steve Davis, the professional snooker player used to pop there from time to time. Neal Folds was a young boy at the time and a good amateur that later turned professional. Jeff Folds, his dad who was a top amateur. Ritchie Bert was a snooker coach and top amateur. There were 30 or 40 top amateur and professionals that used to get up there. One of the greatest players for the time was a guy called Patsy Fagan. He was a very good pro and had some very good wins to his name.

         There was a handicap competition at the Ronnie Gross Snooker Centre one night up in Neasden, the prize money was £250 but I didn’t manage to go. A week later I’d heard that there was some guy playing Tony Meo in the final. As I said before Tony Meo was a class player but the player that he was playing against couldn’t really hold the cue! It worked out that Tony had to give him a 130 start! That’s right 130 start! It was the best of three frames and the score stood at 1–1. The guy managed to pot a few reds but Tony was slowly taking red black, red, black one after the other. Well anyway, Tony played superbly. I mean to give someone 130 start, even if he can’t hold the cue is a feat in itself, but the last game went to the black which meant it was a black ball game. Can you believe it, the guy that Tony was playing was two points still in front on the black?! The black ball was situated close to the pink spot and the white ball was up by the ‘D’. Tony went for broke. He smashed the black ball, it flew straight into the corner pocket, but wait for it… the white came off three cushions and its gone ‘in, off’ the middle pocket, which meant he had lost the match! The guy had won the first prize. I was told Tony Meo sunk to his knees and he couldn’t believe it!

         It was while I was going to Ronnie Gross’s snooker hall in Neasden that I heard that there was a very good snooker hall in Clapham in South London and it was called the Pot Black Centre and I heard that top players also used to go down there. I went down to the Pot Black snooker hall meeting all kinds of top players and playing against them. One day when the racing had been cancelled due to bad weather, I decided to go down and play snooker all day long. I got down there about 10.30 in the morning and there was one table going out of 30. I opened up a table and I decided to practise. After 20 minutes, I looked up and I saw a young boy, teenager standing by the bar, I recognised him instantly. His name was Jimmy White, the snooker player and legend. He’d won the Junior British Championships and I knew that this guy was one of the most talented players. I put down my cue on the snooker table and I walked up to him and I said, “Your name’s Jimmy, do you fancy a couple of games?” He said, “I would play with you, but I haven’t got my cue here, it’s down at Wandsworth, if you’d like to pop down to Wandsworth, I’ll give you a few games.” Now this was an offer I couldn’t refuse. Jimmy was a very good player. We went outside and jumped on a bus and went upstairs and I said to him. “Jim I’ve heard so much about you, one day you’re going to be World Champion.” He said to me, “I’d like to think so because a lot of people tell me that.” I said, “I go up to Ronnie Gross’s snooker hall and I see a close friend of yours, Tony Meo.” He said, “Yes, Tony is a gifted player as well.” We got off the bus and we walked into a church that had been converted into a snooker hall, there were about eight tables. Jimmy got his cue. I set the balls up. Jimmy came to the table and he broke, he started the game. With the very first shot I knocked in a 54 break. There were four or five people watching us at the time. Jimmy looked up at me after I’d missed the black to make a 61, Jimmy said, “I haven’t seen you around here before.” Someone looked at Jimmy and said, “Jimmy looks like you’ve met your match.” Jimmy just chuckled. He then proceeded to clear the whole table. The next game I broke. Jimmy moved in and made a 92 break. The next game Jimmy broke, I didn’t make a break and Jimmy moved in and made a 118 break. We had two or three more games with Jimmy knocking in 60s and 70s and he was only 16 years old! This man was the most talented snooker player that we’d ever seen on the planet. He is also without doubt the most talented person ever to be at a snooker table who has never won the World Championship. It’s definitely too late for Jimmy now. I did bump into Jimmy White some 22 years later and I’ll tell you what happened later on in the book.

         Meanwhile back at the office, I used to go in one hour before the first race or thereabouts, but there was never a lot to do. In the small office next door, my dad had a roulette wheel; it was left over from the Wembley Spinner casino. So I’m practicing my snooker, going into the office an hour before the race, there’s not a lot of work on, but I had to be in the office just in case a call came through. So for 45 minutes I used to spin the roulette wheel. I used to get some chips and there was a place mat where I’d place my bets. I can tell you now; I tried every single possible system for many hours to beat that wheel. I tried doubling up, increasing the amounts that I bet, decreasing the amounts, you name it I tried it. I really believed in those days when I used to spin this wheel I could beat it and when I say I tried every system, I tried it. I tried covering every number besides two numbers. I tried covering one number and doubling up. I even tried a system where there was no limit, which was ludicrous but eventually the roulette wheel always won. There are two reasons why I’ve never ever played roulette. The first reason was that after spinning so many spins on the roulette wheel, I got bored. The second reason, as I said earlier on, if I went with my dad, he always used to look after us when he won.

         I’ll tell you a little story. My dad had a friend. His name was Mr Nick. He used to love to play roulette three or four times a week. He popped up to see Dad at the office one day and Dad wasn’t there. He saw the roulette wheel and I said to him, “Here, Mr Nick, come into the other room, I want to show you something and you’ve been playing roulette for how long?” He replied, “I’ve been playing roulette for 20 years.” I said, “Mr Nick, roulette, I’m telling you, the croupiers can bring up any number they want!” He said “Oh Yeah? I can’t believe that.” I said, “Give me a number, Mr Nick” and he said, “Number 29.” I said, “No problem!” Now I was a pretty good spinner at the roulette wheel, so it was usually a lovely crisp spin I used to throw around the wheel. I span the wheel and I said, “Mr Nick, you are going to see 29.” The ball landed bang! Straight into 29. Mr Nick couldn’t believe his eyes. He then used to say to my dad, “Max, I’m telling you the croupiers can do anything they want with that ball. It’s incredible, your son said he’s going to bring 29 and he brought 29. I’m never going to play roulette again.” I’m telling you now, as you know, this was just pure luck! The croupiers cannot control the ball, the way the roulette wheels are nowadays, it’s impossible to even bring sections. The grooves on the modern roulette wheels are shallow; the ball sometimes jumps in one number and finishes on the other side of the wheel, it’s impossible to beat the wheel no matter who you are.

         My brother used to go into the office a little bit earlier than me, as per usual. Sometimes he wanted to play roulette. I would spin and he would bet. One afternoon, my brother was losing £370 in fifty penny pieces, but the problem was I only gave him a maximum of fifty pence on a number that could return him £17.50. He started moaning, I should up the limit. “Up the limit,” he said. I said, “No! We started at fifty pence a number; we’re sticking to fifty pence a number.” He then put fifty pence on 23, fifty pence splits, all the way round 23. He even put fifty pence on the corners. He started to back 23, any which way he could get at it. When I span the wheel, boom! It went in 23. Wow! He managed to win about £64 with the first spin. I span again and span slightly different this time. I fastened the wheel and span the ball in the opposite direction, as you can do. Bosh! It’s 23 again! Incredible, two times 23! I paid him another 64 quid. He then said to me, “I want to put a pound on 23 and I want to put a pound splits and a pound corners.” I replied to him, “Be my guest!” I changed the spin. I span the wheel really slowly and the ball really fast. Could you believe it, Bang! It’s 23 again. I ended up paying him another £130. So now he had something like £260, with three spins. He then said to me, “Spin the ball again” and I said to him, “No! I want to quit while I’m ahead.” He said, “That’s not fair, spin the ball again! I’m still losing.” Reluctantly, I span the wheel, I then span the wheel so fast and the ball so fast, that you could not see the ball going around the roulette wheel. He started shouting and screaming. “I can’t see the numbers, I can’t see the ball!” I said, “Unlucky, that’s the way I’m spinning the ball.” As the ball landed, the ball was getting thrown out of the number and back onto the roulette wheel because it was going round so fast. He was still shouting and screaming, “You can’t spin like that! You can’t spin like that!” I said to him, “I can spin any way I want.” Well the ball landed and eventually it settled in a number. Well of course our heads were moving round and round because we couldn’t see the number the ball was sitting in. I slowed the wheel down and I could not believe my eyes. It was number 23. I had spun 23 four times on the trot. Yes! Spun 23, 23, 23 and 23 and my brother had recovered all the money he’d lost. This little story just goes to show you that the roulette wheel, as my dad has said, has got a mind of its own, when your number wants to come up, there’s nothing the dealer can do. The only thing we can do as punters and gamblers is control our staking of our bets and that’s like any gambling game. Now I’ll tell you a little fact, if every single person that went into the casino knew when to stop when they were winning or losing, there would be no casinos in six months and that’s a fact. But you had to hear what I said, even if you were losing one night, you had to leave losing the minimum and when you’re winning, you have to know how to win the maximum. Not an easy thing to do, but like every gambler out there on the planet, they’ve all got feelings and they know when their luck is in and they know when their luck is out but like 99.99%, they never know when to stop!

         Christmas 1977. Well every Christmas Day, after lunch, we used to always play poker. Now my uncle Andy used to come round and play. So did my uncle Tom. We used to sit there with 100 chips each. What we used to do, was Dad used to lay a book on who would win all the chips, it was like a tournament. So many times, the book would look like this. Evens, my dad. 2/1 each the two, my uncle Andy and myself. 5/1, my uncle Tom, and 33/1, my brother Mick. Now, it wasn’t because my brother was such a bad player at poker; that he was 33/1 it was because he has never won a penny at poker in his life! Now, the name of the game was, you had to have a bet on yourself and Dad being the Bookmaker, whoever ended up with all the chips, would get paid out to the relevant odds, subject to the amount of the money you put down. Looking back, they were bad odds that my dad was giving, except really my brother was good value at 33/1. My Uncle Andy and I got knocked out quite early, then followed by my uncle Tom and that left a heads up situation with my dad and the outsider, my brother. He had backed himself for £50 and he stood to win, just over £1700. Well, I can tell you now he was steam rolling all over my dad, and that was a hard thing to do. Pot after pot after pot my brother Mick was winning. We couldn’t believe it; my brother Mick was on a high. He couldn’t do nothing wrong. He bluffed Dad, Dad passed. He had many times the winning hand, Dad called! One pot, my brother made a big bet and my dad called, all the chips went into the pot. They turned over the cards and boom! My brother had won the pot. As he scooped the pot my dad realised that he had left one solitary chip in front of him, which was not in play in the last pot, because the chips were counted out and there was a certain amount of chips that went into the pot and it did not include the last chip that was resting by the front of my dad, towards the edge of the table. So just as my brother was shouting and jumping up and down “I’ve won! I’ve won!”… Dad said, “You haven’t yet! It’s not over.” My brother said, “What do you mean, it’s not over?” Dad said to him, “I’ve got one chip left.” My brother looked at him in disbelief. He said, “Dad?” My Dad repeated, “I’ve got one chip left.” Mickey said, “Stick it in the middle, and we’ll draw five cards each and the highest hand takes the two chips, to give me the victory.” This is what we call in poker, ‘A Squeezy’. A Squeezy means, you put a certain amount of money in the pot, you draw five cards and the highest hand wins, as easy as that. Well Dad, won the first hand for two chips. My brother Mick then said, “No problem, stick the two chips in and we’ll deal another, Squeezy.” Dad won the second hand. Mick said, “Dad stick the four chips in and we’ll have another Squeezy, Dad won the third hand. Now Dad had a total of eight chips, he’d won three hands on the trot. My brother still had 492 chips. Mickey said, “Stick the eight chips in.” Dad said, “No! Let’s play poker.” Well in Five Card Stud Strip Deck, there are rounds of betting, so you don’t have to bet all your money all the time. Slowly, slowly Dad built it up to about twenty chips. Mickey started to look worried. Well, I can tell you the unthinkable happened. If I wasn’t there to see it with my own eyes, I’d say it was crooked, but I saw it happen. It took Dad 45 minutes to claw back every single chip against my brother Mick. My brother still talks about it today. I would love to know the odds of my dad winning when he went down to one chip?

         January 1978 came around quite quickly and as you know, I had a big snooker match coming up with Dave the Roof for £1000 and it was in about a couple of weeks’ time. I was practising every day, but I felt that I hadn’t improved the way that I thought I was going to. Out of chance a guy came up to me in the snooker hall and said, “If you want to improve quickly in the next couple of weeks, go and see my friend Jack Karnem. Now Jack Karnem was an ex-professional snooker coach. Sometimes he used to commentate on the World Snooker Championships, with Ted Lowe. He was a very good snooker commentator. He was a well-respected professional snooker player, but he was never a top pro. However, his lessons were excellent. He lived in Palmers Green in North London. I went up to see him the next day and I booked in five or six lessons straight away. He noticed on the first lesson, that I had head movement on my shot, which was hindering my game. He put that right straight away. He also told me that when I hit the white ball at snooker onto the red or any other colour, my eyes should be firmly fixed on the object ball. Well I improved within the next three weeks; I would say at least 8-10 points. Now I really felt confident at beating Dave the Roof.

         Sunday, the game was on, the second week of January, our match was to begin at 10 am. It was the first one to win eleven frames. There was a small crowd watching us, so I was quite nervous at first. I raced into a 2-0 lead. Dave came back to make it 2-2. I then took a 5-2 lead. He came back again to make it 5-5. He went on to lead at 5 pm in the afternoon 7-5. We broke for tea, me and ‘Skinny George’, ‘Fat George’, Jimmy and Andy ‘Mole’, close friends of mine, went up to the Wimpy in Haringey and they said to me, “Come on Steve, we know you can beat him.” Now to be honest with you, a lot of people, except my close friends, gave me no chance in the snooker hall, but Dave had noticed that I was playing with a lot of confidence. I didn’t think I could beat him, but when I first raced into a 2-0 lead, being in front in the match gave me a lot of confidence and even still to this day, whenever I gamble and I’m in front, I’ve got a lot of confidence. Now the break happened at 5 pm. I was 7-5 behind but I still felt good. People were expecting Dave to beat me 11-1, 11-2. So now, even if he wins the next four frames 11-5, I haven’t done bad and that’s what I was thinking. The second session began. Now it was jammed packed with spectators. This made me even more nervous. The match was finally balanced coming into the second session. I took the next four frames to lead 9-7. Out of all these frames that we played, there hadn’t been some bad breaks. There were some 30 breaks, 35 breaks, maybe 40 breaks; I don’t think any of us made a 50. I think the tension was getting quite a lot, but the funny thing is, when I was leading 9-7, it looked like Dave was under pressure, and I was two frames from victory. Now I knew I had done myself proud. The tension was building up, but I was feeling less and less pressure. I don’t think to this day Dave could believe, how well I was playing. The match got to 10-8, with me needing one frame for victory for the £1000. Dave won the next two, it now made it 10-10. It couldn’t be more exciting. There were so many people watching at the snooker hall. I honestly believe to this day, I didn’t think that I could win the eleventh. It was a strange feeling; I felt no pressure because I’d done myself proud. Dave looked under pressure, but with so many people watching at 10-10 with one frame to go, I walked out of the snooker hall. Skinny George and Fat George, my friends, followed me and said, “Where are you going Steve?” I said, “I think it’s getting a bit too much for me.” They said to me, “You can’t leave now, we stand to win £500. We started betting on you against Dave’s friends!” I said, “I’m not leaving, I need some fresh air.” I walked back into the snooker hall and a massive cheer went up for me. Dave looked tired. It was now 10.15 pm. We’d been playing nearly 12 hours, except for the break and there was one frame to go. In the final frame, I broke and I left the white ball right up against the bulk cushion. Everybody cheered. I can say that the final frame was a little bit of a mess, with a lot of safety play. Well, when we came down to the colours, I was leading by two points, with only four colours left on the table. The brown, blue, pink and black. Now, the blue, pink and black were right over the pockets, so whoever potted the brown, would win the match. But the brown needed quite a good shot using the ‘rest’, it was situated by the pink spot. Dave picked up the ‘rest’ and he got straight down and he hit the white ball onto the brown. From where I was sitting, the brown was going straight into the pocket. Now the table we were playing on, which was number seven, in the snooker hall in Haringey, had a very slight roll towards the black spot, but he hit it at a reasonably good speed and when he hit it, the ball was going straight in, but as luck would have it, it rattled and it stayed right on top of the lip of the pocket. I could not believe it. It seems a blur now, I ran over and I whacked the brown in, then the blue and then the pink to give me the match. It was an incredible victory, as during the day, I later heard, they were laying 5-1 against me winning. All my friends picked me up and carried me around the snooker hall, jumping with joy. We then went on to celebrate at Bumbles Nightclub for the rest of the night. I got to the office the next day and I said to my dad, “Dad! Dad! Did you see the final frame, did you see it?” He replied, “When you were leading 5-2 earlier on in the day, I popped up to see how you were doing, without you knowing and as you were breaking off the eighth frame, ‘Ginger Gary’ had £300 Dave to win the next frame, which he won. Then Ginger Gary had £600 for Dave to win the ninth frame, which Dave won. Then Ginger Gary had £1000 for Dave to win the tenth frame,” and as you know, as I’ve already told you, the match went from 5-2, to 5-5. So, Ginger Gary had won £1,900 off my dad in those three frames without me even knowing. I said to my dad, “Why did you do that?” Dad looked at me and said, “That’s gambling son, but the main thing is that you beat Dave the Roof and no one gave you a chance and you proved everybody wrong, there’s your £500 winnings and there’s an extra £500 for beating him from me.” So it proved quite an expensive match for my dad, but he didn’t mind being the gambler and man he is.

         After the match of 1978, I was still playing snooker regularly. My top break in competition was a 93 and I actually missed the black for a 100 clearance. My real interest was still poker, but as I said the games at the snooker hall had died and there didn’t seem to be much poker going on.

         One night, I went out with Skinny George and Fat George and we ended up going back to Skinny George’s house and playing poker all night. I ended up winning about £1800 off Skinny George and Fat George and as soon as the snooker hall opened in the morning we started playing for £300 a frame, but I lost it all back to them because I had to give them such a big handicap start. However, with them being quite close friends of mine, it was difficult to take that kind of money off them, number one because they were friends, and number two they didn’t have it! Anyway, I’m now going to tell you how my dad found out that I was able to play poker!

         One night, in 1978 we went out to a casino for dinner with a guy named Ali Karabina. Now ‘Karabina’ is a nickname for a guy that when he plays poker, he’s very tight. Well this guy called Ali, ‘God Bless His Soul’ was a lovely guy but he was called Ali Karabina because when he sat down on the poker table, he used to play very tight but when he used to lose his money, he definitely wasn’t a Karabina, he used to ‘open up’. Anyway, we’d been out one night and Ali had come with us for dinner at a casino. We left early and when we got in the car, Ali said to my dad, “Max please come down to the Beach Club tonight because there’s a game of poker there.” Now let me explain something about the Beach Club. The Beach Club was in Soho. It was in the basement and they used to have Five Card Stud Strip Deck, every single night for 20 years. If anyone wanted to play Five Card Stud, you’d go to the Beach Club. The ironic thing was that the guy that owned the Beach Club, his name was Michael, would stay there night after night for 30 years. Eventually, his wife persuaded him to close the Beach Club and retire in Cyprus, which he did and then one day he was killed in a motor accident in Cyprus. So the moral of that story was, when your names on the card, your names on the card. Anyway, we got down to the Beach Club. It must have been about midnight. The game was in full flow. It wasn’t a big game, it was £5 openers. Dad sat down, I sat behind Dad. After ten minutes, Dad said, “Deal me out and deal my son in,” just like that. Then Dad said to me, “Do you know how to play?” I said, “Yeah! You get one down card and you get one up card.” I played for about 30 minutes. Now I came up against a guy called Stavros. Stavros is one of the best Five Card Stud poker players there is. He’s now playing Omaha at the Vic and Hold’em, but his Five Card Stud is very well respected. There came one pot with Stavros, as I said I think that it surprised Dad how I played the pot and lost the pot, but it was the way I played it. I won’t go into any details, because it wasn’t such a great pot. So after playing for about half an hour, I was even. Dad then dealt himself in and he started playing. On the way home, Dad said to me, “Where did you learn to play poker like that?” Obviously, I knew how to arrange the cards in a certain order, which I copied from the early days when I was a youngster watching my dad, but he was intrigued to find out how I knew how to play. I said, “Dad, I’ve been playing a while.” That’s all I said. I said “I didn’t do bad, did I?” Dad replied, “You did alright,” and for my dad to say you did all right, that must have meant, I did bloody good! Dad said to me, “Look, I tell you what you could do, Theo is now renting out the Empress Club in Haringey, why don’t you go and see him and try to arrange with them to have poker on Sunday afternoons. It’s the ideal time, Sunday at 2 pm, play poker. I couldn’t believe what Dad was telling me. I remember 17 years previous to this; he was telling me that he was going to make me eat the cards! Now he’s telling me, make a game! I didn’t say anymore. The next day I went to go and see Theo. He said, “It was a great idea.” Now this guy called Theo, ‘God Rest His Soul As Well’, was a very, very shrewd Cypriot man, but we decided, or should I say, I decided, I was going to give this a bash. Dad told me, “Look if you’re going to play poker, one thing you’ve gotta do, they are a lot better than you down at the Club and they’ve all been playing for a minimum of 20 years, so if you start off with a £100 table you must sit there with a hundred and you must play Karabina! (As I said, Karabina means tight). If you lose the hundred, you can sit there with another hundred pounds and if you lose the second hundred you’ve got to stop, you’ve got to do this for a year.” I said, “Dad, this is difficult.” Dad said, “This will teach you control and this is like your apprenticeship, because after a year, if you can do this, you will soon learn the game properly.” Well, I decided to do this and I kept to the rules. The interesting part about doing this was that I never used to lose my cool on the table, so maybe that’s what held me in good stead for the future. But one thing I want to tell you is that some nights I was winning three/four/five hundred pounds and then Bosh! I used to lose all of it, plus my hundred in one pot. Now, this used to happen quite regularly. A couple of times I went to see my dad afterwards and said, “Dad I lost my hundred and I lost my second hundred, but I was very unlucky. I was winning four/five hundred pounds” and then I explained to him the pot that I lost it in. He said to me, “Be careful because they are very shrewd down there, maybe they ‘cold decked’ you! Now ‘cold deck’ means, they could have set up the cards, not marked, but they could of pre rearranged the cards so that you can lose your money. Always watch for a cut, make sure there is a player to cut the cards after a shuffle.” The very next time I was winning three/four hundred pounds and the cards were changed for a new deck, sure enough I noticed that I was going to be ‘cold decked’ and I passed. When I passed and I didn’t get involved in the pot, that I was meant to lose all my money in, I looked at Theo and I said to him, “I don’t want to play this pot” and I winked at him. Theo then, never ever, cold decked me again.

         After I’d finished doing one of the games with Theo at the Empress Club, it was late one night. I’d got home about 2.30 am in the morning and I was starving. I saw a small note, it was from my mum and it said, “You’ve missed your tea, but help yourself to anything that is in the fridge.” I opened the fridge, I couldn’t see a lot but I saw this very large tin. I pulled it out and I opened it. It didn’t look very nice. It was like a thick black jam. I put my finger in and tasted it. It tasted quite nice, very salty so I thought lovely, I’ll put some toast on and I’ll make myself some sandwiches. I had two or three sandwiches because as I said, I was very hungry so I put all of this black stuff all over the toast, it was delicious and I didn’t think anything of it. In the morning, I got up and Mum and Dad were in the kitchen. “Morning Mum!” “Morning Steve!” “Morning Dad!” Dad looked at me and he said to me, “Do you know what you ate last night?” I said, “Sorry Dad?” “Do you know what you ate last night?” I said, “Um! I had some toast and I had this black jam, um! I don’t know.” Dad looked at me and he said and I’ll never forget it, “You ate a £1500 tin of caviar!” I said, “What!” “That’s right,” Dad said, “You ate a £1500 tin of caviar!” I said to my dad, “Well if that’s what caviar tastes like, it weren’t alf good.” He was not amused and he wasn’t wrong, I must have polished off near enough the tin. I do remember I did leave some at the bottom, after all Mum’s note did say, “Help yourself to anything in the fridge.” Even when we used to go out in the later years to the casinos for dinner and if there was any caviar ordered or any caviar left, my dad used to say to the waiter as a standing joke “Stevie, will have it, he will finish the caviar off!”

         We used to get all kinds of faces down in the Empress Club. We used to get a guy called Kenny, they called him Kenny Icky Flicky (one of gambling’s greatest characters), and with his brother Ramsey, we used to get some top class and hardcore players.

         Now as I said in the early stages of my book, the experience I got from the club in the next year or two was invaluable, that no software could teach you. My Dad always said, “You have to pay to learn,” and I can honestly say that I must have paid the minimum.

         After one of the games at the Empress Club, my uncle Andy asked me if he could have a word with me. To which I said, “No problem Uncle, what’s up?” He replied, “Stevie, I must tell you, you have got a big flaw in your game. In fact,” he said, “you have got two flaws in your game.” As I’ve always listened to free advice, I said, “Uncle tell me, what’s the flaws I’ve got in my game, what’s the mistakes I’m making?” He said, “There are two mistakes you always make [I’m actually only going to tell you one of them that he told me, because I don’t want to give too much away]. The first one, my uncle was 100% correct. It was a certain way that I played certain cards and what I did. A little bit difficult for you to understand without me going into detail, but I understood it fully and he was dead right. The second mistake or flaw that he spotted in my early days was definitely a weakness; whenever I went behind on a poker table I always found it difficult to recover my money, which in a way is not a bad thing because I’ve never ‘steamed’ or ‘chased’ my money. Now that was an advantage because I’ve never lost big money, but if I was behind and losing on the night, I used to find it very difficult to get out of trouble, as we say. Uncle gave me two tips that I should do on the two mistakes that I was making on a regular basis, it definitely strengthened my game by at least 40–50%. That’s one thing that you can never ever get from any kind of book.

         A few of my friends used to come to the games and we decided one Sunday, we were going to have a private poker game around one of my friend’s houses in Muswell Hill. His name was Tony S. Now Tony, when he played poker, he was a crazy guy, he used to always want to gamble, gamble and gamble. Anyway, the game was set. It was 1979 and the game was set for June of that year. It was a £1000 minimum to sit down. Now this was a big game, so realistically you had to go with a couple of thousand pounds. Well that game was one of the biggest games I’ve ever played in at 18 years old and I was winning about £4500. When Tony and I got involved in a pot together, Tony was £25 blind, everybody passed, I had a Queen showing and a Queen in the hole, so I had Queen’s ‘backed up’. The blind card was a 7. Tony didn’t raise. The cards came out, 7 to me, Queen/7 showing and then Ace to Tony, 7/Ace showing. It was Tony to bet with the 7/Ace, he checked. I bet the pot, it was about £125. Tony called. The cards then came 10 to me, Queen, 7/10 showing and 8 to Tony, 7/Ace/8 showing, Tony checked. I bet the pot, £400. Tony flat called so now I knew that Tony didn’t have the Aces, I put him on possibly a pair of 7s, maybe a pair of 8s but definitely 7s Aces. The last card came out, a 7 to me, Queen, 7, 10, 7, so now I had Queens and 7s. Then Tony hit a 10, 7, Ace, 8, and a 10 showing. It was the pair of 7s for me “to speak.” There was £1200 in the pot and I saw that Tony had a possible straight with a 9. I really didn’t fancy him with a straight, but me knowing Tony, he could have anything. However, I knew he didn’t have the aces. I checked, Tony bet £1100. I decided to think. Deep down I knew I was going to call him. I thought for about five minutes. The dealer we had at the time said, “Steve you have to call or pass” and I remember exactly what I said to Tony. “Tony, if my dad was playing this pot, he would call… I call the bet.” Then Tony showed his hole card, it was a 9! He had the straight. He found a middle pin ten at the end to hit me with the straight. Tony had won a pot of over £3000. This was a gigantic pot to win. Anyway, at the end of the game I finished just behind. I had possibly been involved in the biggest game I’d ever played in and I had got outdrawn on one or two big pots. There was nothing you could do. We never ever had a return match. I think everyone was surprised that I lost my money that night, but it was one of the greatest poker games and Tony still talks about the pot that he beat me in…. 23 years later.

         During 1979, the games were still taking place at the Empress. Now, I started to claw back some of my losses from that year, playing with these top class players and I felt within six months, I’d become a very confident and competent poker player of Five Card Stud. There was one little story I would like to tell you what happened that year. It was towards the end of ’79. Friends of my dad had a horse. It was running at Newton Abbot, we knew that this horse was a very, very good horse indeed, but my Dad’s friend used to give it a run in quite a strong field. Well one day we received a call at the office and it was my dad’s friend from Plymouth saying, “Max, my horse today, it’s 33/1 and I’m telling you now, it’s running at 4.15, it will win the race.” Well as soon as I heard that, I ran out of the office and I ran to every single betting shop I knew and started putting £30/£40/£50 first show. First show means, as soon as the horse opens up at a price, you can back the horse at that price. The horse opened up at 33/1. Now those of you who know Newton Abbott know it’s not a strong market, so if there was a lot of money for this horse at the course, it will shorten quite rapidly, which it did. The horse ended up 5/2 joint favourite and it won by a distance. This was one of the greatest tips, I’ve ever had. I probably never backed another winner, except for the Grand Nationals of course and one other, but I’ll tell you about that later on.

         By the early 80s, there were no poker games in the snooker hall; even the poker games in the Club in Haringey had died. So it was a case of not doing much on the gambling scene. In the snooker hall they started to play backgammon. Now backgammon is not exactly one of my strength games, but at the time we were going to a casino called Aspinalls, where they were having some big poker games that my dad used to play in and they had four or five of the top backgammon players in world. Now when I say top, these guys used to go to Monte Carlo and they would always finish in the final ten of the Championship. So I used to watch them play, and pick up some tips but even then, I don’t think I was a strong player. Well at the snooker hall, there was a lot of backgammon going on, so I’d play. We used to play maybe £2 or £5 a point. That means that the game can double up at any time. Well I’ll tell you this little story because this turned into a very dangerous incident indeed. I was playing a guy named; Babs and he had me beat. The only way I could beat Babs in this particular game was to throw a double 6. Now meanwhile in front of us, there was a guy nicknamed ‘Tank’, his real name was Chris, but we nicknamed him Tank, because he was built like a tank and he could fight like a tank, he always went forward. He was playing snooker at £20 a game with a guy named Joe. So this game of snooker is continuing, while Babs and I were playing backgammon. As I said to you, I needed a double 6 to win the game. I rattled the dice and boom! I threw double 6, I laughed and I laughed. At the time of me laughing, Tank who was playing snooker with Joe, missed the black that was over the pocket and he looked up and shouted at me, “What are you f…. laughing at?!” to which I replied, “What?” He said, “You heard, what are you laughing at?” I said, “What are you talking about?” He turned around and said “Don’t f…. laugh.” I said, “Shut up, what are you talking about?” Then he picked up the black ball that was still in the jaws of the pocket which he had missed and he threw it as hard as he could in my direction. The black ball hit the back of the chair I was sitting on, splitting it into two. I had my back to Tank as we were arguing and only my head was turned. That black ball could have killed me. I jumped up and ran over to Tank. He ran over to me and we both ended up on the floor fighting. Then within three seconds, there were between eight to ten people pulling us apart. Well, needless to say we never spoke for about ten months. I’ve seen him recently, we’re ‘as good as gold’ now, but even today he doesn’t know why I was laughing.

         I introduced another game at the snooker hall. It was meant to be played with just me and a couple of close friends but what was about to happen was to take the snooker hall by storm. The game was called ‘Yaddis’. I’ll explain the rules of the game, as it is a very simple game. It’s a Greek game and it’s meant to be played with the wishbone of a chicken. Two people are meant to pull the wishbone, both wish for a gift and the bet is on when the wishbone is broken. Now the way a player wins at the game is this: if any of the two players give each other any kind of object in their hand, as one hands it to the other, the receiving person has to say the words, “I remember,” simple as that. If he forgets to say, “I remember,” the other says “Yaddis.” It’s like saying, gotcha! A very simple game. I started playing Yaddis with one or two of my close friends, but we didn’t have a wishbone, all we used to do was ‘shake on it’ and we started playing for £5 or £10 a time. Within three weeks of us playing Yaddis, 75% of the snooker hall were playing this game! I must have had eight games going at the same time and sometimes they were for £100 or £200 a time. Tank lost £500 on one bet with Yaddis to Jimmy Manchester one night at the snooker hall while Tank was already losing his money on the fruit machine. Tank had asked Jimmy to get him some change for the machine and as he gave Jimmy a £5 note, Jimmy, himself had forgotten to say the words “I remember!” So Tank could have got him there and then. When Jimmy got the change from behind the bar and was just about to give it to Tank, he now remembered that he’d forgotten to say “I remember,” so when Tank took the change from his hand, Jimmy said to him “Yaddis!” Tank immediately dropped all the change on the floor and started shouting and swearing, “I’m doing my money on the machine and you’ve cost me an extra £500!” What annoyed Tank even more was that he’d forgot to get Jimmy out 30 seconds previously. Well I’ll tell you a fact; I have only ever been beaten once in my life at Yaddis. In fact I would say I’m unbeaten and I’ve played the game thousands of times but I was beaten one night on a technicality and I’ll tell you how. I was driving my car home and in the back were Luke, Jimmy and Andy Mole. Luke had asked me for a light, so I gave him a light from my cigarette lighter in the car and I passed it back to him while I was driving and then Luke said to me, “You can have the lighter back.” I had my eyes fixed firmly on the road and the next thing I knew, I took the cigarette lighter and I heard the word Yaddis. Jimmy had got me out. Apparently, Luke had asked me for a light genuinely and he gave the lighter to Jimmy to light up Jimmy’s cigarette and it was Jimmy that had given the lighter back to me. Well that was the first and only time I’ve ever been beaten at Yaddis and I still feel, even though legally I lost, it was a tough defeat to take under the suspicious circumstances but the game is, to keep your wits about you at all times when people give you objects. We were playing Yaddis for a whole year at the snooker hall and there were two people that made a lot of money and that was Jimmy and me. Me and Jimmy stand at one defeat each. I beat him once fairly and squarely and he’s beaten me once questionably? Even to this day, if we ever give each other any objects in the hand, one of us will always say the words, “I remember” and there’s not even a game going on!

         Meanwhile, back in 1981, Dad opened a Gambling Club and it was called Inverness Terrace. They used to always play poker down there. There was some very big poker games and really you needed a minimum of £2,000–£3,000 to sit down. Well I’ll tell you about one pot that Dad played because this is one of the great pots. Dad was £100 blind, everybody passed except for Billy F and he called with a King showing. The blind card was an 8, Dad didn’t raise. The cards came out, Queen to Bill, King Queen showing and 9 to my dad showing 8, 9. Bill bet the full pot £300. Dad called. Third card came out, King to Bill, King, Queen, King showing and a 9 to my dad 8, 9, 9 showing. Again Bill bet the full pot £900. Dad thought for a second and called the £900 and raised the pot £2700. This put Bill on the back foot. He thought for maybe ten or twenty seconds and then he called. As he put the £2700 he was looking a little bit worried. I didn’t know what Dad had, even though I was sitting behind him. I certainly didn’t know what Bill had. The last card came out 7 to Bill, so he ended up showing King, Queen, King, 7; and 7 to my dad, he ended up showing 8, 9, 9, 7. Bill looked disappointed that he hit the 7 and he looked at Dad and said, “Check to you Max.” Now, I remember this vividly, Dad looked at him, looked at his card, looked at Bill and must have thought for about 25 seconds, which is a long time on the poker table and Dad’s words were to Bill, “I check as well Bill,” so that means Bill didn’t want to put any more money into the pot and nor did Dad. The Croupier turned over Dad’s hole card. Dad had three 9s! He then turned over Bill’s card and Bill had three Kings! Bill tried to trap my dad from one card out, but it never worked. The Croupier said to my dad, “This was fantastic play, Max, I can’t believe how you never bet.” Dad looked at him and didn’t say anything. On the way home, I remember saying to Dad. “Dad, how comes you never bet on the end? What made you think he had three Kings?” Dad replied to me, “Just before the last card, when Bill bet the £900 and I raised £2700, I can only really raise with three 9s. So if I can only raise with three 9s, Bill should know, that I can only raise with three 9s, so in theory Bill can only call the £2700 with three Kings.” Well this was a little bit advanced for me at the time, but it all makes perfect sense to me now. Dad continued to say, “When the last card came out and Bill looked disappointed, I thought, 95% he had the three Kings and he was trying to trap me, or he could have had Kings and Queens, but unlikely.” So rather than invest any more money in this pot, Dad decided to slow it down, which he did, but he lost. It just goes to show you, the class of poker player that my dad was, he actually lost the minimum. This pot could have quite easily cost him £30,000.

         Dad sometimes used to let me start the games at Inverness Terrace before he got down there. When I used to start the games Dad only used to let me play table stakes, so that means that I used to have to sit down with £1000, I couldn’t play any more money until he got down there. The greatest feeling I used to have is when Dad used to walk into the Card Club at Inverness Terrace, and say, “My son now plays, Call or Pass.” When you play Call or Pass at a poker table in a private game that means you can call or pass any amount of bet unlimited. This is not played in the casinos today, because of credit limits. To be able to play Call or Pass or someone say to you, “You can play Call or Pass,” this is a very great compliment that you are giving someone because you are actually giving them unlimited funds to play poker, especially for me at 20 years old!

         One night I got down to Inverness Terrace and there was a big game taking place. It seemed to have gone on since the early afternoon. I got down there at about 11 pm. Dad was playing with a couple of others and then there was Stavros. Stavros was the guy that I played against at the Beach Club three or four years previously. I’m going to tell you about a pot my dad and Stavros played because it always comes to mind when I think about Inverness Terrace. Stavros opened with an Ace showing, there were a few callers in front and Dad raised the pot with a King showing. Stavros immediately re-raised the pot and everybody else passed but Dad called, it was Stavros and my dad in this pot. Stavros had an Ace showing, my dad had a King showing. The cards came out. King to my dad, two Kings on the show and Queen to Stavros showing Ace, Queen. My Dad immediately bet the pot, it was about £280. Stavros called the £280. Now at this point I was 99% sure that Stavros had Aces, if not even 100% sure. The next card came out, the one before the last, 7 to my dad, my dad now had King, King, 7 showing and Jack to Stavros, Ace, Queen, Jack. Dad bet the pot £840. Stavros thought for a second and then called. The last card came out. A 9 to my dad and my dad ended up showing King, King, 7, 9 and 10 to Stavros, showing Ace, Queen, Jack, 10, a possible straight. My Dad looked at his hole card and as he looked at his hole card, I actually peeked at it too as I was standing right behind him. Dad had the three Kings. Now for sure, my dad has now put Stavros on Aces from the beginning. My dad saw that Stavros had a possible straight, but he didn’t fancy Stavros with the straight. He asked the dealer, “How much is in the pot?” The dealer replied, “£2500.” My Dad said, “I bet the pot!” Right into Stavros’s straight! I’ll never forget it; Stavros looked up and said, “How much is the bet?” The dealer said, “£2500.” Stavros said, “I call the £2500 and raise ‘all in’ another £800.” (Stavros had no more money left in front of him to raise any more.) My dad immediately called the £800 and showed Stavros three Kings. Stavros looked up and said, “That’s good Max” and then turned over his hole card, it was a King! Stavros had made a straight. At the time when my dad had showing two Kings with two cards to come, Stavros had showing Ace, Queen with a King in the hole, it was very difficult for Stavros to win this pot. He was looking to hit the straight or possibly bluff it and if he had hit his ‘bluffing card’, he would have run into a lot of trouble. Stavros had won a pot of around £10,000. That’s not taking anything away from Stavros, he’s a great Five Card Stud player and later on towards the end of my book, I will build a table of the eight best Five Card Stud players there are and Stavros is definitely in the eight, he is a terrific gambler.

         I used to pop down to the Inverness on many occasions and possibly the biggest game I’ve ever seen, was one night I walked in and I saw this young man, blond and tanned. His name was Paulo, they called him Italian Paulo. He was going £100 blind, Dad was going £200 over, Paulo was going £400 super blind! This is possibly the biggest game I’ve ever seen for 1981. The game got so big that night that the guy who used to run the games with Dad said to me, “Oh! I don’t know, with your Dad and Paulo at the table, these games are getting out of hand. They are killing the games between the two of them. It’s like a war out there, people that come are scared to play, the game has got too big!”

         One day down the Inverness Club we were watching the World Snooker Championships. Steve Davis was playing Jimmy White and he needed to pot the blue, pink and black to win the frame. The blue was on its spot and the white ball was right behind the blue going into the middle pocket. It was a straight forward shot for Steve Davis to follow through or stun on to the pink. He looked at the blue and crouched down and I mean this was an easy pot. Two guys who were watching the snooker with me, one turned to the other one and said, “I want to bet £3300 to £100 that he pots this blue.” The other guy looked up and said, “I’ll lay you that.” So the guy that’s wanted the bet, laid out £3,300 could only win £100. That’s what we call a 33/1-on chance, but this was a really simple pot. Anyone could have potted this ball. Steve Davis queued up and missed! He missed the blue from the spot and the guy lost £3,300!

         Another time I went down to Inverness Terrace, there weren’t enough poker players to get a game going, so they decided to play rummy. It’s called 79 rummy, I won’t go into too much of the mechanics of rummy but it’s quite an easy game, when there are four players you can all put a certain amount of money down and you can bet on yourself. For example if there are four players playing 79 rummy and we all put £10 each, the winner of the game will take the £40 showing a profit of £30, quite easy! Well they started playing rummy one night and my dad was playing, Italian Gino and two others. They agreed on the stakes that they should all put £200 each, so that there was £800 in the middle. The first game my dad won, so he scooped the £800. The second game, they’ve all agreed to put £800 each, to which my dad won again, that was £3200. The third game, the two other players didn’t want to put the £3200 which my dad wanted, but Italian Gino said to my dad, “I’ll lay you Max, if you want the £3200 I’ll lay you 3/1 that you don’t win the next game.” My dad put the £3200 on the next game of rummy and guess what? He won it! He won £9600 from £200 by winning three games of rummy on the trot. If I see Italian Gino nowadays, I always remind him about that treble that Dad did.

         There was one time that I went down to Inverness with Dad and there was no game. We left early and Dad was with a guy named Fossis. As we left, we stood outside and Dad said to Fossis, “Let’s go down to Mavericks’ game, he’s got poker on tonight.” I said, “Dad, I’m coming with you!” He said, “Boy! You’re going home because, you’ve got work in the morning, it’s two o’clock in the morning, go home!” Well the reason I’m telling you this is because, I went home and when I woke up in the morning at about 10 am, Dad was just coming in home. I said, “Dad! Was it a good game?” He said, “No!” I said, “What do you mean?” He said, “Well! We started playing poker, and within ten minutes, there were a couple of guys standing around the poker table and the next thing I knew, Bosh! Twenty police came in and arrested us all and stopped the game. Well really, this was a first. I said to my dad, “It’s a good job that I didn’t come then, isn’t it Dad?” He said, “You’re right, I wish I never went myself!”

         Around 1982, as I said, Dad used to go and play some big poker games in Aspinalls. They were big, you needed £5000 to sit down and the opening bets were £100 and it was usually £100 blind. This is a big game for today’s standard, never mind 20-odd years ago! Well everybody used to sit there with a thousand and there was this little guy who used to walk in and he used to sit down with a hundred grand! His name was Taleef. Well, I can tell you something. When this little guy sat down, he opened the game up enormously. In fact, possibly the biggest pot I’ve seen at that time was £96,000, and £25,000 in the side pot. Involved were Taleef, Morat and my dad. Taleef won it. That night was one of the biggest games I’ve actually ever seen. In fact, Dad was losing that night and at 10 to 4 in the morning, he managed to recover all the money he’d lost and he was about even. Then there came a pot, which was very interesting between Dad and Taleef. Dad had showing, Ace, Queen, Jack and Dad had a 10 in the hole. The last card Dad hit was a 7, so all he had was Ace, Queen high. Taleef had showing Jack, 10, 9 and Taleef hit a Queen, so Taleef had a possible straight, but Dad had nothing. There was about £45,000 in the pot, so Dad checked to the possible straight because all Dad had was Ace, Queen high. Taleef bet the pot £45,000. Dad thought about it. I remembered thinking, sitting behind Dad, “What’s Dad thinking about, he can’t call.”

         I mean Dad had showing as I said, Ace, Queen, Jack, 7 with a 10 in the hole. Taleef had showing Jack, 10, 9 and he hit a Queen. Anything that Taleef had, would have beaten Dad. Dad nearly called him, which I couldn’t believe, but he then decided to pass because it was 10 to 4. Taleef turned over his ‘hole card’ and he turned over a 7 and that means that all he had was Queen, Jack high and he was bluffing and Dad would have won a £130,000 pot, but that shows you, that’s poker. Sometimes, it’s not so much the money that you could lose, it’s also, because Aspinalls used to close at four o’clock in the morning, it was a difficult call to make at that time of the evening. I forgot to mention this Taleef, who started playing poker with all the poker professionals at Aspinalls, used to always sit down as I said, with £100,000. Well in the other room was a couple of Arabic guys, and we later found out that Taleef was the driver / chauffeur for the Arabic brothers, that were playing roulette in the other room! One time we heard, when Dad didn’t go in, Taleef sat down and won £80,000 on the poker table and he skinned everybody up within half an hour. Then Taleef himself went to the roulette table and lost the £80,000 in three spins! All the poker players had their tongues hanging out and couldn’t believe it. But as I said, Dad wasn’t there that night, so we never saw that, but we heard about it the next day.

         For a while, Dad went through quite a losing patch at Aspinalls and on the way home, my brother Mick said to Dad, “Why don’t you let Steve play?” My dad’s words to my brother were, “If Steve plays, they will swallow him up, he won’t have a chance, he can’t play in that kind of game, it’s too big.” I said, “Dad give me the chance.” Within the next month or two, Dad was still on a losing streak and just by chance, we were having dinner at Aspinalls one night, when my dad hadn’t finished eating and the poker game was just about to start. Dad said to me, “Go and start with the boys, sit down with £5000 and play very carefully.” Well I can say to you, by the time Dad came up after his dinner, I was winning about £8000, so Dad decided to let me play on that night. There came a pot with Simon, and me, which could be still debatable today. What was right and what was wrong? I feel I was right, he feels I was wrong. To cut the long story short, I ended up hitting three Jacks, two Jacks showing, one in the hole and Simon ended up hitting three 9s, two 9s showing, one in the hole. Now, I decided to think for about 5–10 seconds. The reason, I was thinking, I didn’t think that Simon had three 9s so I then decided to check. He then bet the pot £2000. I called the £2000 and raised £6000 straight away. He immediately called me and showed me three 9s to which I then showed him three Jacks. He objected saying that I couldn’t think and then check. This was a strangulation bet. Well there was a big “Hoo Ha!” at the table. I was told that I’d done wrong. Dad was called into the room and two or three people backed me up and two or three other people backed Simon up. There is such a thing as a strangulation bet, which can’t really be done at poker, but the point we were making was, I never bet at the end, I checked, so there is no such thing as strangulation check only a strangulation bet. If Simon decided to bet at the end, after my check, then he’s opened it up for me to raise, which is exactly what happened. Anyway, there started to be more bad feeling in the poker games, because I used to start playing and I couldn’t do anything wrong. Dad used to have his dinner; I used to start the games. Many times Dad used to let me stay there all night, but they started getting peeved because there was me at 21 years old playing with the best poker players in the world and I was making money!

         Out of all the players, the one that didn’t mind me playing in those big games was Italian Paulo, the guy that used to pop down to Inverness Terrace. Now Paulo is one of the most unique characters in gambling and there are many stories to come about Paulo, as he nearly won a lot, a lot of money off my Dad, but I’ll tell you that later on. I think Paulo never minded me playing, because he too started at about 20 years old and was playing in very big games. He actually found it quite amusing that I was sitting and playing poker against the best in the world. I remember him saying, “Good call, Stevie! Good call, Stevie! Well played Stevie!” and I used to say to my dad on the way home, “Paulo seems quite chuffed that I’m doing well.” He even used to say to my dad, “Maxi, I don’t mind playing against you, I don’t mind playing against Stevie, it’s all fun to me!” and that’s Paulo’s attitude in general, we still laugh about the old days, when we meet for coffee. After about four or five weeks of me winning, there was definitely a bad feeling with me playing on the table. Dad used to mess about on the roulette wheel and a few of the poker players, used to say, “Max, when are you coming back into the games?” After a while Dad decided to start playing poker again, after a four or five week break. When Dad started playing it seemed that his luck had definitely changed. He couldn’t do anything wrong and when my dad plays poker, as I told you, the games were getting bigger and bigger and it seemed that my dad’s luck was definitely in. My mum still always says, “A change is as good as a rest.” Well my dad had had the rest and it certainly worked. In fact, one night, it was Dad who absolutely wiped the table clean. He skinned everybody. I remember that night, because Paulo wasn’t playing, I remember French Alan, Peter G, Jollyenos and a few others, Dad skinned them all. He skinned them so badly that one by one they all dropped out of the game. There were three players left: my dad, Jollyenos and Peter G. Jollyenos had about £8–10,000. in front of him and Peter G had about £6–7000. I was sitting behind my dad. My Dad looked up and he said, “Boys! it’s three o’clock in the morning, I’m going to play roulette.” “What!” they said. Dad said. “You heard, I’ve won enough, I’ve skinned six players tonight and I’m going to go and play roulette, I can’t win a lot more from you two.” They said, “We want you to play!” So Dad said. “I’ll tell you what I’m going to do. I’ll leave £10,000 here for Stevie and he’ll play you.” Now meanwhile, they were both losing, so they didn’t decline the offer because, they thought, well they’ve got a chance with me. Don’t forget three-handed is a different game, it can get very aggressive! Dad trotted off into the other room, with my brother, to play a little bit of roulette for the last hour. The infamous last hour. I started playing poker with Peter G and Jollyenos. Now, I’ll tell you what was going through my mind, believe it or believe it not, there was no fear. Dad had won an absolute fortune that night and if I was to lose £10,000, I don’t think it would have really mattered and I mean that. So I was playing very aggressive, but I’m going to tell you what happened in one big pot. Peter G opened with an Ace showing, Jollyenos called with a Queen showing. I had a Queen showing and I looked at my hole card, and it was also a Queen, so I raised £400. Peter G called straight away the £400 and raised £1200. Jollyenos called the £1600. Now, what was going through my mind was, I don’t think Jollyenos has got Queens backed up, because I had Queens backed up, so I put him on an Ace. I thought Peter G might have the Aces backed up, but I put him on a King in the hole but now there was value in this pot and I decided to call the £1200. The second card came out. 7 to Jollyenos, Queen, 7 showing. 7 to me, Queen, 7 showing and an 8 to Peter G. I thought great! I’ve got it, I’ve got this pot! Peter G checked. Jollyenos checked. So straight away, I’ll tell you now what was going through my mind. Peter G had a King in the hole and Jollyenos had an Ace in the hole. OK! Well I bet the pot nearly £4000. Straight away, Peter G called the £4000 and raised all in, I thought, My God! he’s got the Aces. I’m 99% sure he had the Aces. Jollyenos thought and thought. I thought to myself, “My God he’s thinking, he must have the Queens.” Jollyenos called the rest of his money, another £6000. Now there was about £19,000 in the middle. I only had about £4000 left and I’ll tell you exactly, what was going through my mind again. Peter G’s, got the Aces, Jollyenos must have the Queens. I don’t think I can win this pot. I can’t hit a Queen; maybe I can hit a 7. I called the bet and I think it was a bad call, but I called for £3800 all in, putting about £22,000. in the pot (a bit of value now) As everybody was ‘all in’, we all showed our cards. Peter G showed he had the Aces, I showed I had the Queens and Jollyenos showed he had the Queens. There was very little way that I could win this pot because the next card came out, the one before the last was a 9 to Jollyenos, a 7 to me, giving me Queens and 7s but wait for it, an 8 to Peter. Now Peter had showing Ace, 8, 8. He had Aces and 8s (by the way this is called the ‘dead man’s hand’). It was now very hard for him to lose this pot. Well this time, the last card came out and it’s not one of those bad beat stories, because it’s one of those stories, that I actually won the pot! How did I win the pot? I hit a 7 on the last card, the very last 7 to make a Full House of three 7s and 2 Queens. Peter G’s face was an absolute picture, in fact, this pot is still remembered today by the dealer who is now one of the top Pit Bosses in a leading London casino. He saw me very recently and he said to me. “Do you remember me?,” I said, “I remember your face.” He then said, “I was the dealer that gave you the Full House over Peter G” and it was him that made me remember this story. However, the story gets an even better ending because as I scooped the £23,000 I looked at both of them and said to them, “Any more boys?” They both said, “We’re through, we’ve lost all our money to your Dad and now you.” As I got up from the table, my brother ran in the room and he said, “Steve, quickly, Dad has just hit a repetition on the roulette wheel, he has hit number 11 to the maximum, 11 again to the maximum, and the ball is spinning for the next spin. As I ran in the room, the ball had just landed back into number 11 for the third time! So Dad hit 11! 11! 11! Three times on the trot, while I was skinning the other two poker players. What a night. Now that is a story you can certainly tell your kids!
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